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This matter involves a stockholder challenge to exgar in which a third-party
strategic acquiror has agreed to merge with thgetacorporation for consideration
valued at $35 per share. The agreed-upon dealide®vhat each of the target's
stockholders will receive approximately half of tmerger consideration in cash and the
other half in stock of the acquiror. Plaintiffslegle that the $35 merger price is
unreasonable and that the target's board faileduately to inform itself as to the true
value of the company and maximize stockholder vailuger Delaware’®evlonline of
cases. Furthermore, Plaintiffs allege that thgetts board breached its fiduciary duties
by agreeing unreasonably to a number of deal giotemeasures that had a preclusive,
deterrent effect on any bidders who otherwise mingive made a higher offer.

Importantly, this case provides cause for the Ctudddress a question that has
not yet been squarely addressed in Delaware lawnelya whether and in what
circumstancefevlonapplies when merger consideration is split rougivgnly between
cash and stock. Plaintiffs have moved for a prielary injunction and request that the
Court delay the target’s stockholder vote and enjbe deal protections for a period of
45 to 60 days so as to allow the target to seelehiggids. For the reasons stated in this

Opinion, however, | deny Plaintiffs’ motion for agliminary injunction.



l. BACKGROUND
A. The Parties

The target in this consolidated actids Defendant Smurfit-Stone Container Corp.
(“Smurfit-Stone” or the “Company”), a Delaware corgtion with its headquarters in
Chicago, lllinois. It is a manufacturer of papeatm and paper-based packaging,
including containerboard and corrugated containe@murfit-Stone also is a paper
recycler and has 12 paper mills, 110 containertpla®9 reclamation plants, and 1
lamination plant worldwide. Plaintiffs, John M. ks, Matthew Gould, and Melvin D.
Spencer, are common stockholders of Smurfit-Stone.

On January 23, 2011, the board of directors of #trstone unanimously
approved an agreement and plan of merger (the “dfekgreement” or “Agreement”) to
be acquired by Defendants Rock-Tenn Company (“Ricakr”) and Sam Acquisition,
LLC (“SA”) in a cash and stock transaction worthpegximately $3.5 billion (the
“Proposed Transaction” or “Transaction”). Rock-Mmas incorporated in Georgia where
it has its principal executive office. It is a d#'@g manufacturer of paperboard,
containerboard, and consumer corrugated packads®yis a Delaware limited liability
company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rock-Tergated for the sole purpose of

effecting the Proposed Transaction.

! This action is the result of a consolidation bfee separate actionMarks v.

Smurfit-Stone Container CorpC.A. No. 6164-VCP (Del. Ch. filed Feb. 2, 2011);
Gould v. Smurfit-Stone Container Car@.A. No. 6291-VCP (Del. Ch. filed Mar.
17, 2011); andSpencer v. MooreC.A. No. 6299-VCP (Del. Ch. filed Mar. 21,
2011). SeeDocket Item (“D.1.") 41 (Order Granting Consolidat). As discussed
infra and for purposes of this Opinion, the operativeecs C.A. No. 6164-VCP
and the lead Plaintiff is John M. Marks.



In addition, the Amended Complaint (“Complaint”’) mes ten individual
defendants who make up Smurfit-Stone’s board catirs (the “Board”). Defendant
Ralph F. Hake currently is the nonexecutive chamrmithe Board. Defendant Patrick J.
Moore has been a director since January 2002 amdntly serves as Smurfit-Stone’s
CEO. He also was the former chairman of the Sm8tbne Board. Defendants
Timothy J. Bernlohr, Terrell K. Crews, Eugene |.vi3a Michael E. Ducey, Jonathan F.
Foster, Ernst A. Haberli, Arthur W. Huge, and JaheS’Connor are outside directors.

B. Facts’
1. Smurfit-Stone emerges from bankruptcy and a new baal is chosen

As a result of the economic downturn beginning 00& and the concomitant
reduction in demand for packaging materials, Sriy&tione filed a voluntary petition on
January 26, 2009 to restructure itself under Chiahteof the United States Bankruptcy
Code. Approximately a year and a half later, oneJ80, 2010, the Company emerged
from bankruptcy after shedding significant debtsahg several underperforming mills,
and reducing its workforce by approximately terceet?

Upon its exit from bankruptcy, Smurfit-Stone’s dteds’ committee chose a new
board of directors based on an interview processglwcted by an executive recruiting

firm. The applicants chosen had substantial egped serving on boards of other major

Many of the facts relevant to this controversy aot in dispute and are supported
by documentation and other evidence submitted @t cited in the parties’
briefs. Where a fact might be in dispute, | havaevygled appropriate citations to
the record; otherwise, such citations are omittedie sake of brevity.

3 Dep. of Patrick J. Moore (“Moore Dep.”) 55-57.



corporations and in various business fields, inclgdforest and paper products,
investment banking, and others. The creditors’ rodgibee decided, however, to retain a
few key directors from the previous Smurfit-Stormatd. In particular, it negotiated with
Moore, who allegedly had planned to retire at the @ 2009, to extend his contract with
the Company for an interim period ending March 3011 to permit the Board time to
settle on a more permanent leadership struétuidhe committee also retained Steven
Klinger,> the former president and COO of Smurfit-Stone,wedl as O’Connor, an
outside director.

The reconstituted Board, thus, consisted of elewelividuals, including: two
inside directors, Moore and Klinger; one hold-owatside director, O’Connor; and eight
new outside directors, Hake, Bernlohr, Crews, Dabiscey, Foster, Haberli, and Huge.
According to Defendants, the Smurfit-Stone direxstte¢ducated themselves” about the

Company before assuming their board positions ae 30, 2010.

4 Id. at 7-9.

There is no evidence that any of the eight netside directors have any common
affiliations or prior relationships with Moore, SrfitrStone, or Rock-Tenn.See
Dep. of Jonathon F. Foster (“Foster Dep.”) 11-BA2cording to Defendants, these
directors, including O’Connor, are “completely ipéd@dent.” Smurfit-Stone
Defs.” Ans. Br. (“DAB”) 4. Similarly, | refer to Rintiffs’ opening brief as
“POB,” their reply brief as “PRB,” and Rock-Tenrdaswering brief as “RTAB.”

At an October 2010 Board meeting, Klinger annegnthat he would resign his
management and board positions with Smurfit-Stoffeceve December 31,
2010. Moore Dep. 17-18. After his resignationihet end of 2010, the Company
retained Klinger in a consulting role, which meémat he would “continue[] to
help [Moore] with the oversight and operation sude¢he business,” similar to his
role as president and CO@. at 18.

! SeeDAB 4 (citing Foster Dep. 12-13).

4



A byproduct of the creditors’ committee’s work tceate a new board was the
extension of new employment contracts to Moorendg@ir, and Smurfit-Stone’s chief
administrative officer and general counsel, CraigHant® The contracts provided for
certain payments to these individuals in the etlesitthe Company entered into a change
of control transaction before certain specifiededat Moore’s contract, for example,
provides that if a change of control offer was reee before March 31, 2011, with a
closing before September 30, 2011, Moore wouldriiled to receive a bonus. Moore
estimated that his bonus would be approximatel®2@5nillion dollars if the Proposed
Transaction is consummat&din addition, he would receive a “gross up,” cingrany
taxes on his change-of-control borfisThese employment contracts were negotiated by
the creditors’ committee and approved by the fddesakruptcy judge; the new Board
had no role in negotiating or approving th&m.

Klinger's contract expired when he resigned at ene of December 2010. He
then entered into a consultancy agreement with #ir&tone, under which he would be

an independent contractor for an interim periodimmcdn March 31, 201% This

8 Moore Dep. 19-21; Dep. of Ralph F. Hake (“HakepDpel17-20; Foster Dep. 186-
87.

9 SeeMoore Dep. 20-22; Hake Dep. 17.
19 SeeMoore Dep. 21.

1 SeeHake Dep. 167; Foster Dep. 186 (“[Moore’s] contrac. was entered into by

the creditor investors with Mr. Moore and approusdthe bankruptcy court; we
as a board inherited that, we had nothing to db iit).

12 Hake Dep. 19; App. of Exs. to Pls.’ Op. Br. (“PBx.”) 9, Form S-4/A, at 88.



agreement provides that Klinger would receive apipnately $150,000 per month in
salary and that, upon the expiration of his comaswgy contract, “any unvested portion of
[his] outstanding options and restricted stock amiards . . . will immediately vest in full
upon a change in control of Smurfit-Stone (inclgdmerger) occurring[] during the six-
month period following” such expiratiori,e., by September 30, 201i. Based on
Moore’s employment contract and Klinger's consuttanontract, Plaintiffs estimate that
the Proposed Transaction would net them each bofosgproximately $19 milliort?

2. The Board’s postbankruptcy search for a new CEO andhe Levin Report

Facing significant challenges in its efforts to uret to profitability after
bankruptcy:> the Company sought to find a permanent manageteant, in particular a
new CEO to replace Moore once his interim contexgiired. At a meeting on July 28,

2010, the Board resolved to begin a process to fiva next Smurfit-Stone chief

13 Form A-4/A, at 88; Moore Dep. 42-43. Klinger @lgould receive a gross-up.

Form S-4/A, at 88.
14 POB 7.

15 The parties disagree about Smurfit-Stone’s okte®a stand-alone company after

it emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy. Plaintifisscribe the Company as
“restored [to] profitability” and having embarkech @n “aggressive turnaround
plan that has produced significant and continutoglsprice increases.Sedd. at
4-5. They contend that the Company’s earningsther fourth quarter ended
December 31, 2010 reflect improvements in earningggins, and cash flow as
compared to the previous yea&ee idat 6; Moore Dep. 56. Defendants, on the
other hand, paint a bleaker picture. They allegat tthe Company faced
substantial challenges postbankruptcy and remdimedeast profitable player in
the corrugated industry. DAB 5 (citing a researeport by the Buckingham
Research Group). Defendants also assert thattliertime Smurfit-Stone exited
bankruptcy, it was the subject of market-wide talezospeculation. Id. (citing
Foster Dep. 167-68).



executive. The Board began by looking at Klingé&ithough it considered him to be
“extremely competent” and to have performed “adbiiyain his capacity as COO, the
Board chose to go in a different direction by hgrisomeone from outside of the
Company, and targeted candidates with previous €f@rience?

During that meeting, the Board received a repastnfra financial advisor, the
Levin Group (“Levin”), which suggested strategidiatives the Company might pursue
to reduce its selling, general, and administraéixpense$’ Levin presented the Board
with an “Initial Strategic Review” suggesting threifferent strategic plans for the
Company on a stand-alone basis (the “Levin Repontfluding: a scenario where the
Company remained as is; an “11 Mill” scenario whigiee Company closed one mill and
made certain operational improvements; and an “B’ lcenario where the Company
divested three mills, among other thi§sThe Levin Report suggested that if the 8 and
11 Mill scenarios were successful, Smurfit-Storsttsck could have implied 2011 share

prices of $40 and $35, respectivély. While several Board members had significant

16 Hake Dep. 19. Evidently, Moore had recommendedgeér for the job. Moore

Dep. 13-14. Although Defendants assert that ther@e search for a new CEO
proved to be difficult, it allegedly was close &caring a candidate in early 2011
when it entered into the Proposed Transaction. BA@iting Foster Dep. 151-
52).
7 Moore Dep. 58-59. Smurfit-Stone previously hathined Levin and the firm
worked principally with Klinger. According to Fast the Board did not
commission Levin to prepare the report; Levin didos the initiative of Klinger.
Foster Dep. 91.

18 Aff. of Kathaleen S. McCormick (“McCormick Aff."Ex. 74.
¥ Id. at SSC0005021.



reservations about the reliability of Levin’s proied valuationd® the Board still
authorized management to explore some of the peapds/estitures and cost-reduction
initiatives. The Company had little luck, however finding a willing buyer to acquire
the mills it sought to unloat.

3. Company A makes an offer to buy Smurfit-Stone for 89 per share in an all-
cash deal and the Board rejects it

On September 16, 2010, representatives of Ever&adners (“Evercore”)
indicated to Davis that a prominent private equitgn, Company A, was interested in
exploring a transaction with Smurfit-Stone. Dathanked the Evercore representatives
for their interest, informed them that the Comparas “not for sale,” and then reported
the conversation to Haké. At a meeting soon thereafter, the Board decided t
investigate the nature of Company A’s interest amthorized Hake to reach out to
Company A’s financial adviser and seek additiorethids?®

In addition, the Board prepared to share certaia diligence materials with
Company A and selected Moore, Klinger, and Huntemd that effort’ Plaintiffs
strongly criticize this decision. They contend tthiaese individuals were conflicted

because they stood to receive large bonuses if f§fBtwne experienced a change of

20 Foster Dep. 105-06; Hake Dep. 136.

21 Dep. of William Levin (“Levin Dep.”) 45; Fosterdp. 88.
22 McCormick Aff. Ex. 24.

23 Hake Dep. 81; Foster Dep. 27.

24 Hake Dep. 76-77.



control and potentially could obtain new employmeantracts from Company A if it
purchased the Company and sought to retain its-leig executives. The Board
recognized these potential conflicts, but as Ha{@agned in his deposition, “they were
the ones that have the knowledge [and the] abiidyarticulate [Smurfit-Stone’s
business]. We are dependent on that managememtaoe@lk to any potential biddef™

Hence, the Board authorized Moore and Klinger, witint's assistance, to make
a presentation to Company A on October 7. Mook Klimger continued to meet with
Company A representatives through the rest of thanth, often without any other
directors preserff These efforts resulted in Company A making aeroéih October 10
to enter into a recapitalization in which Smurfib&e would raise $500-$700 million in
new debt and Company A would become a major Sra8tfine stockholder. The
Board rejected this offer at a regular Board meetin October 27 and directed Moore to
so advise Company A. Undeterred, Company A exptesontinued interest in a
possible transaction with Smurfit-Stone.

On November 11, Evercore informed Moore that Corgpafikely was interested

in purchasing the entire compafiy. Eleven days later, Company A sent Hake a

25 Id. at 78.
26 Id. at 86.

27 Pls.’ Ex. 9 at 41.

28 At this point, the Board began preparing to reee written offer and, in doing so,

instructed Moore that the independent directorsdedeto be involved in all
interactions between management and Company A. H¢éerd also began
discussing the need to form a special committeedosider any offer from
Company A.



nonbinding, all-cash offer to buy the Company f@9$er share, which constituted a
premium of 24.2% to the prior day’s closing pricEhe offer was subject to a 30-day
exclusivity agreement and additional due diligendée next day, on November 23, the
Board convened a special meeting without the ppdimn of Moore and Klinger. After
reviewing the terms of the offer, the Board creaespecial committee composed of the
entire Board except Moore and Klinger, the onlyidaes directors (the “Special
Committee” or “Committee”). The Special Committedgso formed an informal
subcommittee consisting of Hake, Foster, and Halieg “Subcommittee”), to oversee
the deal process on a day-to-day basis.

The Committee’s first order of business was retgriazard Freres & Co. LLC
(“Lazard”) and Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz (“Waell”) to be its independent
financial and legal advisors, respectively. Pifmit characterize Lazard as
“inexperienced” in the M&A space concerning the @apnd fiberboard industri€$. In
that regard, they note that Lazard never pitchealr tiqualifications to handle the
proposed deal to the Committee and the Committeerrimthered to interview Lazard.

In addition, Plaintiffs complain that the terms endwhich the Special Committee

29 McCormick Aff. Ex. 5.
30 POB 9.

31 Dep. of Maxence De Gennaro (“De Gennaro Dep1p8-

10



retained Lazard included a “significant success,”feghich incentivized Lazard to
recommend even a bad deal to thém.

Defendants disagree and defend the hiring of Lazartdey note first that the
Special Committee selected Lazard based on thenmemdations of certain Smurfit-
Stone outside directors and Lazard’s ability to getto speed quickly because it had
worked on the Company’s bankrupt€y.In addition, Defendants claim that Lazard was
“entirely independent” because it had no ongoingti@ship with any member of the
Special Committee or the Company. As to Lazardixsss fee, Defendants assert that
they “pushed Lazard hard” to reduce the amount lgayto it upon the closing of a
transactior’’

Over the next three weeks, Lazard worked on pregaiis valuations and
Company A continued to perform due diligeriteAmong other things, the Board asked

Lazard to evaluate the Levin Report and determihether its estimate that Smurfit-

32 POB 9. In particular, the Lazard retention lefimvides that Lazard will receive

$1 million for entering into the agreement; an &ddal $2 million payable upon
the earlier of an announcement of a transactiofinitee transaction agreement,
or the rendering of any Opinion (as defined thgreand, if a transaction is
consummated, .5% of the aggregate transactionaenasion. PIs.” Ex. 19.

3 DAB 9 (citing Foster Dep. 71).
3 1d. (citing McCormick Aff. Exs. 33-37 and Hake Def3).

= Management provided Lazard with its 2011 budged amanagement-prepared

five-year projections. Defendants also note thatdrd inquired as to why
management's sales and EBITDA forecasts were, itaioe respects, more
conservative than some analysts’ estimates. DAB Xmong other things,
management explained that they believed the amalystpectations did not
properly account for the intensely cyclical natofethe containerboard industry.
De Gennaro Dep. 129-30.

11



Stone’s stock could garner $40 per share was tiealislake made clear to Lazard that
the Board would focus on reconciling Levin’s prdjens with Lazard’s own valuations
and, in particular, asked Lazard to analyze thititeacy of Levin's methodolog$’

On December 15, 2010, Lazard and Wachtell met thighSpecial Committee to
review Lazard’s valuation¥. Lazard explained to the Committee that its disted cash
flow (“DCF”) analyses yielded per share prices iaggrom $27.50 to $37.50 on a tax-
affected basid® It walked through several potential alternatitesthe Company A
transaction, including remaining a stand-alone camgpexploring a recapitalization, and
seeking a potential sale or other strategic traimsaat a later point in tim&. As the
Committee requested, Lazard also reviewed the Lpuijections. Lazard determined
that the materials Levin relied upon yielded 20tplied share prices ranging from $27
to $35 and 2014 implied share prices ranging fratd $o $30 for the “11 Mills”
scenario, when expressed in present value terms ant industry-standard cost of
equity’® Plaintiffs contend, however, that Lazard entirdlgmissed Levin's analysis,
citing a December 10 email to Hake in which a Ldzapresentative refers to Levin’'s

$40 per share finding as a “back of the envelop@tudation and suggests that the

% McCormick Aff. Ex. 40.
37 Before Lazard presented its findings, Moore atidgér were excused.
% McCormick Aff. Ex 12 at SSCC0000149.

¥ 1d. at SSCC0000161.

40 DAB 11 (citing McCormick Aff. Ex. 13 at SSCCO00®)5

12



Committee directors “be careful” with their emaiteferencing that calculatiof.
Defendants dispute that characterization and adbeit Lazard carefully compared
Levin's analysis with its own on a like-for-like &ia, and determined that Lazard’s
conclusions were not “dramatically different” thiagvin’s.*?

After Lazard presented its findings, the Specialm@ottee discussed the
possibility of reaching out to other potential beds, but concluded that the benefits of
doing so were outweighed by the “risk of leaks,disuption to management of multiple
parties conducting due diligence, and the potentiphct on customers, employees, and
the Company’s busines$®” In addition, both the Special Committee and Ldzar
allegedly believed that, as a practical matter, &itrBtone had conducted the functional
equivalent to a two-year market check in the forimit® bankruptcy because it had
engaged in discussions with potential financial sindtegic acquirors during that tirffe.

Ultimately, the Special Committee directed Lazardeil Company A that its $29
per share offer was inadequate, but the Companydweniertain a possible transaction at
a “significantly higher valuation rangé> On December 17, Company A withdrew its

offer and notified Smurfit-Stone that it would mrbceed with the process furtHér.

“ Pls. Ex. 24.

%2 SeeDAB 11; De Gennaro Dep. 66.

% McCormick Aff. Ex. 8.

“  SeeFoster Dep. 178-79; De Gennaro Dep. 43.
* McCormick Aff. Ex. 6.

®1d. Ex. 42.

13



4. Rock-Tenn enters the picture

Rock-Tenn became interested in contacting Smutéi& about a potential
acquisition in late 2010. According to its CEOm&s Rubright, Rock-Tenn regularly
monitors publicly available information about itesnapetitors, including Smurfit-Stone,
and was aware of the Company’s bankruptcy, thetfadtby the middle of 2010 it still
had not appointed a permanent CEO, and that indastalysts speculated that it might
be an acquisition target. Although Rubright bed@that Smurfit-Stone was “not . . . for
sale” and knew of nothing that suggested it wasivaly seeking to do a transaction,” he,
along with Rock-Tenn’s financial advisor, Wells §arSecurities (“Wells Fargo”), began
investigating the possibility of such a transactio November 2016’

Sometime in November, Rubright called Klinger, answhat estranged friend, to
discuss, among other things, Klinger’s future v8tnurfit-Stone after he had been passed
over for CEO. They also discussed other busineatiers, including whether the
Company “would be receptive to a transactiéh.During this conversation, Klinger told
Rubright he believed the Board was “dysfunctiorial.”

On December 21, Wells Fargo contacted Foster tchiel that Rock-Tenn was
interested in discussing a potential stock-fordstmerger of equals. After Foster relayed

this message to Hake, the Special Committee datdcéeard to contact Wells Fargo to

4" Dep. of James Rubright (“Rubright Dep.”) 22.
® Id. at 21-25.
4 Rubright Dep. 21.

14



obtain additional details about Rock-Tenn’s propdSa Wells Fargo suggested that
Rubright meet with Smurfit-Stone’s senior managetment Lazard eschewed such a
meeting as premature. Instead, Lazard propose@eiimg between the two financial
advisors so it could obtain additional informatimefore proceeding further.

Meanwhile, the Special Committee met on Decembeto2discuss Rock-Tenn'’s
potential interest in a transaction. It unanimgwsjreed to permit Lazard to meet with
Wells Fargo to gather additional details, but withimdicating that Smurfit-Stone might
be interested in proceeding. Later that day, Wedligo presented its proposal to Lazard:
an all-stock, no-premium merger that would prov&taurfit-Stone stockholders with an
approximately 55% equity stake in the combinedtgntvhich principally would be
managed by Rock-Tenn executives. Lazard advisdts\Wargo that the Board would be
more receptive to a transaction involving a premard a significant cash componéht.

5. Rock-Tenn’s $30.80 per share offer

On January 4, 2011, Rubright called Hake to regaasieeting to discuss Rock-
Tenn’s formal proposal to acquire the Company sigaificant premium with 50% of the
consideration in cash. Three days later, on JgnfilaRubright and certain other Rock-
Tenn senior management met with the Subcommittek arlLazard representative.
Rubright presented an “indicative” offer, which atwed a premium price of $30.80 per

share, 50% in cash and 50% in stock, and thres ssaRock-Tenn’s board after the

50 SeeMcCormick Aff. Ex. 43.

>1 Dep. of Ryan Nelson (“Nelson Dep.”) 38. Wellgg@responded that Rock-Tenn

would be receptive to a premium and a cash componéif. of Bradley D.
Sorrels (“Sorrels Aff.”) Ex. D.

15



merger, but no offers of future employment or boawxembership for any other Smurfit-

Stone executives or directors. After Hake inforrRedbright that $30.80 was inadequate,
the parties agreed to have their financial advisooatinue to discuss a potential

transaction at a higher share price.

6. Rock-Tenn’s $32 per share offer

On January 9, Rock-Tenn made a nonbinding offeracguire all of the
Company’s shares at a price of $32 per sffairgluding consideration of 50% cash and
50% stock at a fixed exchange ratio, subject tortbgotiation of a definitive merger
agreement, limited confirmatory due diligence, atatkholder approval.

The next day, the Special Committee, along with Moand Hunt, convened to
consider Rock-Tenn’s offer and request for addilaiue diligencé® The Committee
determined that $32 per share was inadequate, uthbrized Lazard to permit Rock-
Tenn to conduct reasonable additional due diligeagmprove its offer.

The Committee also discussed whether it shouldngit¢o reopen negotiations
with Company A or solicit offers from other poteitiacquirors. In particular, it
discussed the “risks involved in contacting othaertigs,” including burdens of multiple
parties conducting due diligence at the same titine,risk of information leaks, the

potential negative impact on customers, employaed,other constituencies, as well as

>2 This price represented a premium of 26% to them@any’s 30-day average share

price of $25.43 and a 47% premium to the Compaslyare price when it began
trading in July 2010 after the Company exited baptey. Sorrels Aff. Ex. G.

53 Pls.” Ex. 26. The Committee believed it was omable for Rock-Tenn to receive

limited additional diligence, but it was reluctdataccept a prolonged delay at the
risk of information leaks and other burdeSseFoster Dep. 183.

16



the possibility of jeopardizing a proposed tranisactvith Rock-Tenm? The Committee
also discussed certain analysts’ speculation thairfit-Stone was a takeover candidate
and the possibility that another acquiror woulditerested in offering a higher price
than Rock-Tenn. On the subject of trying to reomegotiations with Company A,
Lazard advised the Committee that, based on “tetyi of the prior discussions with
[Company A], [it] did not believe that such partypwd be likely to offer a higher price
than Rock-Tenn would be willing to offer™ In addition, the Committee recognized that,
even if the Company entered into a transaction Wititk-Tenn, it still could consider
competing offers, if they should arise, subject'dastomary no-shop and breakup fee
provisions.®® As such, the Committee resolved not to contaan@amy A or other
parties about a potential transactfon.

After the meeting, Hake authorized Moore and Huwalgng with Lazard, to
prepare and present additional due diligence nad$¢eto Rock-Tenn and attend due
diligence meetings on the Company’s behalf. Thdigs met on consecutive days
beginning on January 17 so management for each amyngould present to its

counterpart reciprocal due diligence.

>* McCormick Aff. Ex. 8. The Committee believed tlifaword got out that Smurfit-
Stone was contacting multiple acquirors, it mighdve quite difficult to retain a
permanent CEO and maintain employee morale. FDsipr 166.

%5 McCormick Aff. Ex. 8.
°6 Id.

> Id.; Foster Dep. 166. Similarly, the Committee neasked Lazard to perform

analyses regarding other potential transactionstier Company. De Gennaro
Dep. 31-33.

17



Contemporaneously, Wachtell, on behalf of the Cottemj and King & Spalding,
LLP (“King & Spalding”), Rock-Tenn’s counsel, negaied a draft merger agreement.
The Committee “set objectives” for Wachtell so tBaturfit-Stone could obtain a merger
agreement that would not “deter[] another biddehmunlikely event that another bidder
came along™® After rejecting King & Spalding’s first draft agement circulated on
January 18, which certain representatives of StrBtéine characterized as
“problematic” and “a complete non-starter,” Wachteégotiated for reciprocal deal
protection devices and a significantly reduced teation fee® In particular, Foster
explained that the Board wanted a breakup fee wlaat “consistent with similar-sized

transactions, so if there was another interestety flnhe Company] would not unduly

*  Foster Dep. 176.

>9 See McCormick Aff. Ex. 66. Rock-Tenn originally proped a breakup fee
equivalent to 4% of fully diluted equity value bdsen the merger consideration.
The Special Committee countered with a proposal Z&% of equity value.
Rock-Tenn rejected this and proposed a fixed $18omtermination fee and,
after further negotiations, agreed to reduce théstd $120 million, or 3.4% of the
equity value of the Proposed Transaction.

Plaintiffs contend, however, that members of thmem@ittee accepted the deal
protection devices recommended by Wachtell “withaoy real understanding of
how they worked or any knowledge as to whether Wédichegotiated anything in
return for them.” POB 15-16. The evidence doelcaie that the Committee did
not devote much attention to the deal protectiorasuees. | am convinced,
however, that the Committee understood that pronsiWachtell obtained in its
negotiations were relatively standard market terifise evidence also shows that
the directors on the Special Committee were sophistd business persons with
broad experience, including with mergers and adipns. Plaintiffs, therefore,
are not likely to succeed in showing that the Cottemidid not understand the
general operation and import of the deal proteatn@asures in the Agreement.
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jeopardize doing a deal away from Rock-Tenn ”°°. In addition, Moore negotiated a
drop-dead date for the proposed merger transacti@eptember 30, 2011, the same date
on which a change-of-control transaction had t@elon order to trigger certain bonus
payments under his employment contfdcDefendants credibly respond, however, that
the drop-dead date was a subject of “consideraldeusision” with Rock-Tenn, was
extended beyond the date Rock-Tenn originally psegdpand ultimately coincided with
the expiration date of Rock-Tenn’s financing conment®?

7. Rock-Tenn'’s best and final offer: $35 per share

Following the reciprocal due diligence presentaiamd the initial draft merger
negotiations, Rock-Tenn informed the Company tingt@eal between the parties had to
be finalized by January 23. Smurfit-Stone thenedsfor Rock-Tenn’s best and final
offer. On Thursday, January 20, Rubright indicateéiake that Rock-Tenn would offer
$35 per share, split equally between stock and easin its previous offer. This price
represented a 27% premium to the Company’s themrewutrading price. The effect of
the deal would be that Smurfit-Stone stockholdewild own approximately 45% of

outstanding Rock-Tenn common shares following comsation.

% Foster Dep. 173.
°. POB13.

62 DAB 18. Defendants explain that Rock-Tenn itigigroposed a six-month date

and, after back and forth negotiations in which 8m&tone requested a longer
period of time, the parties settled on an eight4ingreriod. SeeRubright Dep.
115-16; McCormick Aff. Ex. 68.
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Later that day, Hake convened a meeting of the i8p&ommittee, in which
Moore and Hunt also participated. Moore and WillidM. Lewis of Lazard led the
meeting and updated the Committee on “recent dpusmts” concerning meetings
between the two companies, due diligence effortsskRrenn’s business, draft merger
agreements, the terms of Rock-Tenn’'s best and fpraposal, and other matters
concerning negotiations with Rock-Teft.Hake and Lewis also reported that Rock-
Tenn threatened to suspend the merger discussgitims proposed transaction could not
be finalized before the end of the weekend andelease of both companies’ earnings
announcements the following we®k.The Committee decided to authorize its advisors
to enter into further negotiations with Rock-Tenmdao proceed toward finalizing a
merger agreement.

On Sunday, January 23, the Smurfit-Stone direatorsrened a joint meeting of
the Board and the Special Committee to considerkHenn’s latest offef> Hake,
Moore, Wachtell, and Lazard reviewed with the Botre negotiations and discussions

between the two companies since the previous nieetin January 20. Moore also

63 McCormick Aff. Ex. 9.

64 Seeid. As to this apparent time crunch, Hake refle¢cked while he didn’t “think
there was a rush at all,” his philosophy on thetenawvas to “bring [the deal] to
conclusion as rapidly as possible consistent wéttimgg done what you need to
do.” Hake Dep. 162-63.

65 McCormick Aff. Ex. 11.
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expressed his view that it was not to Smurfit-S®®m@&lvantage to remain a stand-alone
company®

Lazard presented its analysis regarding the fasrnek Rock-Tenn’s offer,
including valuations of Smurfit-Stone, Rock-Tenmdathe combination of the two
companies. Lazard’s analyses of the Company gttkeavaluation range of $27-$39
per sharé’ In addition, Lazard answered numerous questimma Board members in a
relatively robust discussion of their projectiomglandustry conditions. This discussion
covered Lazard’s finding that the Company’s netrapeg loss carryforwards (“NOLS”)
were worth between $1 and $3 per share, but teaethialues were highly contingent and
uncertain. The Board members also inquired whe®oek-Tenn, if pushed, might agree
to a higher share price. Hake and Lewis indicalbed, based on their discussions with
Rock-Tenn executives, they believed Rock-Tenn’'sroffas its best and final one. The
Board also reviewed with Wachtell its ability tonsader a better offer, should one arise
after the Board approved the deal.

After Lazard reported that it found the offer to fla& from a financial point of
view and Wachtell reviewed the terms of the progos$&erger Agreement, Moore

excused himself so the Special Committee couldipubffer to a vote. The Committee

% Moore Dep. 85.

o7 McCormick Aff. Ex. 14. Lazard told the Board theertain of management’s
projections were lower on average than those ofesdiall Street analysts.
According to Foster, however, the Board did notnkhithat management
“intentionally . . . shar[ed] with [the Board] pegtions that were excessively
conservative.”SeeFoster Dep. 218-19.
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unanimously agreed to recommend to the Board thetcept Rock-Tenn’s offer. Upon
Moore’s return, the Board unanimously voted to atésck-Tenn’s offer.

8. Terms of the Merger Agreement

Under the Agreement, Smurfit-Stone will become ahNyhowned subsidiary of
Rock-Tenn and its stockholders are entitled toivec817.50 in cash and .30605 shares
of Rock-Tenn common stock for each share of Sm6tiihe common stock (the
“Merger Consideration”$® Based on the closing price of Rock-Tenn stock édiately
prior to the announcement of the merger, this Qaration was worth $35 per share.
Upon closing, the Company’s stockholders will ovapeximately 45% of Rock-Tenn’s
outstanding common stock.

Also of note, the Merger Agreement contains sdveoacalled deal protection
devices, which Plaintiffs claim are unreasonabteparticular, the Agreement contains a
“no shop” clause which prevents Smurfit-Stone framitiat[ing], solicit[ing], induc[ing],
or knowingly encouraging] or facilitat[ing]” a pentially superior acquisition bid from

another prospective acquirdr. This restriction is tempered by a “fiduciary oafause,

68 Pls.” Ex. 9 at Annex A, the Merger Agreement,18§, 1.6; McCormick Aff. Ex.
69 at Ex. 99.1, Smurfit-Stone Jan. 24, 2011 Forkh 8Fhe exchange ratio has no
collar or mechanism that acts as a floor or caghenstock component of the
Transaction’s consideration to protect against efaflkictuations of Rock-Tenn’s
stock. Seeln re NYMEX S’holder Litig.2009 WL 3206051, at *2 (Del. Ch. Sept.
30, 2009). | also note that Rock-Tenn will assudmeurfit-Stone’s net debt and
pre-tax pension liabilities. McCormick Aff. Ex. &3 Ex. 99.1.

69 Merger Agreement § 6.4(b). This obligation isipeocal and likewise prevents

Rock-Tenn from pursuing certain transactions witleo companiesld. § 6.5(a)-

(b).
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whereby the Company retains the ability to consalemunsolicited “Company Superior
Proposal,” as defined in the Agreement, in linenvifite Board’s fiduciary dutie®.

In addition, the Agreement contains a “matchirghts” provision. In pertinent
part, that provision gives Rock-Tenn the rightdéoeaive details of an unsolicited Superior
Proposal received by the Company, as well as ttdebis identity, and, within three
calendar days, revise its proposal to try to matoexceed the competing bil.

Finally, the Agreement contains a termination 6¢e6120 million. This amount
would be payable to Rock-Tenn if the Smurfit-StdBeard fails to recommend the
Proposed Transaction to its stockholders in thepzomes’ joint proxy statement or if it
terminates such transaction in favor of a Supdtroposal?

C. Procedural History

The lead Plaintiff, Marks, filed his complaint orelftuary 2, 2011 and, on
February 8, moved for expedited discovery. On &aty 22, Defendants filed motions in

both this Court and in the Circuit Court of Cookudty, lllinois (the “lllinois Court”),

70 Id. 8 6.4(e). A Company Superior Proposal is defiasdany bona fide written

Company Acquisition Proposal . . . made by a tpady that the Company Board
determines in good faith, after receiving advianirits outside legal counsel and
financial advisors, would be more favorable to @wnpany Stockholders than the
Merger, taking into account (i) any proposal bydParto amend or modify the
terms of this Agreement, (ii) the identity of therBon making such Company
Acquisition Proposal and (iii) the terms, condispntiming, likelihood of
consummation and legal, financial, and regulatospeats of such Company
Acquisition Proposal.”ld. 8 6.4(i).

L |d. § 6.4(e). Like the no shop clause, this obliats reciprocal.ld. § 6.5(e).
2 1d. 88 8.1(q), (i), 8.2(ii). This obligation alsorisciprocal. See id §§ 8.1(h), (j),
8.2(iv).
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where multiple similar actions against the sameebeénts were pending, to request that
the lllinois and Delaware Courts confer and attetaftetermine a single forum in which
the entire litigation effort should proceed andtttiee other court stay or dismiss the
actions pending before if. Consistent with Defendants’ motion, | conferreithwludge
Novak of the Illinois Court, and she ultimately dksd to stay the actions before her
pending resolution of this action. | also adviskd parties that | intended to set this
matter for expedited discovery and hold a preliminmjunction hearing before the
Proposed Transaction went to a stockholder vokatinMay’

On March 11, Marks filed a Verified Amended Classtisn Complaint (the
“Complaint”), which is the operative complaint ihig action’> Soon thereafter, on
March 24, | consolidated the actions pending is thourt and appointed co-lead counsel
in Delaware. That same day, Plaintiffs moved fass certification, which | granted on
May 2.

On April 25, | entered an amended scheduling ordeheduling a preliminary

injunction hearing for May 18. After extensivedding by the parties, | heard argument

& SeeD.l. 5. According to Defendants’ motion, four easGold v. Smurfit-Stone

Container Corp. Case No. 11-CH-3371Roseman v. Smurfit-Stone Container
Corp. Case No. 11-CH-351@indley v. Smurfit-Stone Container Carg.ase No.
11-CH-3726, an®Czeck v. Smurfit-Stone Container Coiase No. 11-CH-4282,
were pending in the lllinois Court and were cordatied under docket number 11-
CH-3371 before the Honorable Rita NovdH&.

" SeeD.l. 33, Tr. of Arg. held on Mar. 4, 2011, 17, 23-

> Defendants moved to dismiss this Complaint onil A&
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on Plaintiffs’ application for a preliminary injuhon on that date (the “Argument”).
This Opinion constitutes my ruling on Plaintiffg@ication.

D. Parties’ Contentions

Count | of the Complaint accuses the Board of breagits fiduciary duties of
care and loyalty by failing to take steps to maxzienthe value of Smurfit-Stone to its
public stockholders. Specifically, Plaintiffs asguhat the Proposed Transaction
constitutes a “change of control” transaction awiach the Board failed to comply with
its obligations underRevlon, Inc. v. MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings, .fhcby
conducting an inadequate sales process and olgaamnnadequate price from Rock-
Tenn. They also contended that the Board impeaibiisfailed to disclose all material
facts pertaining to the Proposed Transaction incttrapanies’ joint Preliminary Proxy
Statement. Defendants have since mooted Plaintliteclosure claims by making
various supplementary disclosures. Count Il accu®dack-Tenn of aiding and abetting
the Board in violating its fiduciary duties by way the challenged conduct. Plaintiffs
seek, among other types of relief, a preliminajynotion to delay the stockholder vote
on the Proposed Transaction and lift temporarig/dbal protection devices.

Defendants begin by challenging Plaintiffs’ content that the Proposed
Transaction warrants heightened scrutiny urRlevlonand argue that the Court, instead,
should review the Board’s actions under the morkerdatial business judgment rule.

But, even ifRevlondoes apply, Defendants assert that the Board éaliyplied with its

® 506 A.2d 173, 179 (Del. 1986).
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fiduciary duties to secure the best value reasgnaailable for Smurfit-Stone

stockholders.

Il. ANALYSIS
A. Standard for a Preliminary Injunction

Plaintiffs seek to preliminarily enjoin the Propds&ransaction with Rock-Tenn.
To succeed in that effort, they must demonstrdtpa(reasonable probability of success
on the merits; (2) that they will suffer irrepar@bhjury if an injunction does not issue;
and (3) that the balance of the equities favorsshigance of the injunctioff.

B. Likelihood of Success on the Merits
1. The applicable standard

Plaintiffs contend that the Proposed Transactiamsttutes a “change of control”
transaction and, as such, the Court should apgljéightenedRevionstandard® They
bolster this argument by characterizing the Tratsac as the Smurfit-Stone
stockholders’ relinquishing majority ownership dfet Company in favor of minority
ownership of Rock-Tenn and arguing that, becausgoapnately half of the Merger
Consideration is in cash, the stockholders arengptie last opportunity to maximize the

value of a significant amount of their investmensimurfit-Stone.

" E.g, Revlon v. MacAndrews & Forbes Hldgs., In606 A.2d 173, 179 (Del.
1986);In re Dollar Thrifty S'holder Litig.14 A.3d 573, 595 (Del. Ch. 2010).

8 POB 21-24. Plaintiffs also argue, in the altéiveg that even if the Court applies

the business judgment standard of review, the aciw still should be enjoined.
Id. at 21.
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Defendants, for their part, argue that heighteRedlonscrutiny is inapplicable
here and urge the Court to review Plaintiffs’ claitihrough the lens of the business
judgment rule? They contend that the Board never put Smurfin8top “for sale” and
the Proposed Transaction is not a “change of ctiritemsaction under relevant Supreme
Court precedent. Specifically, Defendants ass&t tontrol of the postmerger entity
here will remain, as it was in Smurfit-Stone’s casdore the merger, in a large, fluid,
changeable and changing public market. This, thegue, gives Smurfit-Stone
stockholder’s a “tomorrow” whereby they, by virtoé the stock portion of the Merger
Consideration, can participate in Rock-Tenn’s fatsuccesses and possibly obtain a
future control premium should Rock-Tenn be acquired change of control transaction.
In Defendants’ view, the fact that the Transacttontemplates an approximately 50/50
mix of cash and stock consideration does not ch#rigeonclusiorf’

Based on my review of the law and facts of thisegcasonclude that Plaintiffs have not
shown a reasonable probability of success on theim that the Board breached its fiduciary
duties by approving the Rock-Tenn merger. As &ogbverning standard, | believe Plaintiffs are
likely to prevail on their argument theevlonapplies here, even though the Delaware Supreme

Court has not yet addressed this issue directlysukh, this position is not free from doubit.

& Defendants also argue that eveR#&vlondoes apply, Plaintiffs have not shown a

likelihood of success on the merits.

80 Defendants also note that, because the partesati structure the Transaction

with a collar, “the value of the merger considematis no longer split evenly
between cash and stock, [] rather [it] has shite@pproximately 44% cash and
56% stock,” which they argue further supports theasition thatRevlon is
inapplicable here. DAB 24.
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Nevertheless, in the circumstances of this casa) éu assume without deciding that tRevion
standard applies, the result would be the samat iShPlaintiffs have not demonstrated that
they are likely to succeed on the merits of thigime that the actions of the admittedly
independent and disinterested Special Committee¢dsas the vast majority of the Company’s
Board) in negotiating and approving the Merger Agnent failed to satisfy their obligations
underRevlon

Thus, | begin by addressing the applicable stahdbhthen examine this Transaction
under the lens dRevlon

a. Business Judgment Rule oRevion?

Under 8§ 141(a) of the Delaware General Corporatiaw, a corporation’s board
of directors is empowered to manage the businessafairs of the corporatioff. The
business judgment rule (“BJR”), a deferential staddof review, reflects the common
law’s recognition of § 141(2} In short, it is a “presumption that in making asimess

decision the directors of a corporation acted om@ormed basis, in good faith and in the

honest belief that the action taken was in the bestests of the compan§{™ This

81 See8Del. C.§ 141(a); see alsRevlon, Inc.506 A.2d at 179.
8 See MM Cos. v. Liquid Audio, In813 A.2d 1118, 1127-28 (Del. 2003).

83 Seeid. (internal quotation marks omittedhee also, e.gEmerald P’rs v. Berlin

787 A.2d 85, 90-91 (Del. 2001Revlon, Inc. 506 A.2d at 180;Moran V.
Household Int’l, Inc. 500 A.2d 1346, 1356 (Del. 1985). Generally, gaaty
challenging director action has the initial bur@é¢madducing evidence to rebut this
presumption. See Liquid Audio, Inc.813 A.2d at 1127-28merald P’rs 787
A.2d at 90-91. Plaintiffs can rebut the presumptily showing, among other
things, that the board violated its fiduciary dsta care or loyalty in connection
with a challenged transaction or committed fraudelf-dealing See, e.gln re
Walt Disney Co. Deriv. Litig.907 A.2d 693, 746-47 (Del. Ch. 2008ff'd, 906
A.2d 27 (Del. 2006). If the presumption propersyrebutted, the burden then
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standard of review is respectful to director pretogs to manage the business of a
corporation; in cases where it applies, courts ngisg “great deference” to directors’
decisions and, as long as the Court can disceratianal business purpose for the
decision, it must “not invalidate the decision . examine its reasonableness, [or]
substitute [its] views for those of the board .”?

In limited circumstances, however, the Delaware r&og Court has imposed
special obligations of reasonableness on board®morations who oversee the sale of
control of their corporatiof When a board leads its corporation into so-caRestlon
territory, its subsequent actions will be reviewsdthis Court not under the deferential
BJR standard, but rather under the heightened atdraf reasonableness. In addition,

and as discussed in greater detail below, the Bodrduciary obligations shift to

obtaining the best value reasonably available éaanget’s stockholdefs.

shifts to the director defendants to establish thatchallenged transaction was
“entirely fair” to the corporation and its stockdels. See, e.g.id. If the
plaintiffs fail to rebut the presumption, the bdardecision will be upheld unless
it cannot be attributed to any “rational businesgopse.” See, e.g.id.; Emerald
P’rs, 787 A.2d at 90-91.

84 Paramount Commc’ns Inc. v. QVC Network Jni@37 A.2d 34, 45 n.17 (Del.
1994) (internal quotation marks omittedge also, e.gLiquid Audio, Inc, 813
A.2d at 1127-28Emerald P’rs 787 A.2d at 90-91.

85 See, e.9.QVC Network InG.637 A.2d at 42Revlon, Inc. v. MacAndrews &
Forbes Hldgs., In¢.506 A.2d 173, 182 (Del. 1986).

86 Revlon, Inc.506 A.2d at 182-84QVC Network Inc.637 A.2d at 44.
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While the differences between directors’ obligaainder business judgment and
Revlonreview are not insignificarif, the standard of review is not necessarily outcome
determinative. Nonetheless, “absent a limited afetircumstances as defined under
Revlon,a board of directors, while always required toiacan informed manner, is not
under anyper seduty to maximize shareholder value in the sharnte. . .®® Therefore,

a question of much ongoing debate, and one to whielparties devoted much ink in this
case, iswhendoes a corporation ent&evlionmode such that its directors must act
reasonably to maximize short-term value of the amafon for its stockholders.

The Delaware Supreme Court has determined thaaedlmight find itself faced
with such a duty in at least three scenarios: ¥Whgn a corporation initiates an active
bidding process seeking to sell itself or to effadbusiness reorganization involving a

clear break-up of the company[]; (2) where, in tese to a bidder's offer, a target

87 See In re Netsmart Techs., Inc. S’holders Liti4 A.2d 171, 192 (Del. Ch.
2007) (“Unlike the bare rationality standard applite to garden-variety decisions
subject to the business judgment rule, Rexlonstandard contemplates a judicial
examination of the reasonableness of the boardisida-making process.”).

8 Paramount Commc'ns, Inc. v. Time In671 A.2d 1140, 1150 (Del. 198%;jr
Prods. & Chems., Inc. v. Airgas, Ind.6 A.3d 48, 101-02 (Del. Ch. 2011) (“It is
not until the board is unddRevlonthat its duty ‘narrow[s]’ to getting the best
price reasonably available for stockholders in & s&# the company.”). In
Lyondel| for example, the Supreme Court held thRevVlonduties do not arise
simply because a company is ‘in playl’yondell Chem. Co. v. RyaA70 A.2d
235, 244 (Del. 2009) (“The duty to seek the besilalkle price applies only when
a company embarks on a transaction—on its owrmativé or in response to an
unsolicited offer—that will result in a change obntrol.”). Moreover, in
Paramount Communications v. Timbke Supreme Court held that Time’s board of
directors did not enteRevlonmode solely by virtue of either entering into the
initial merger agreement with Warner or adoptingicural safety devicesSee
Time Inc, 571 A.2d at 1142, 1151.
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abandons its long-term strategy and seeks an alteentransaction involving the break-
up of the company; or (3) when approval of a tratiea results in a sale or change of
control[.]"®°

Here, Plaintiffs do not allege that the Boardiatéd an active bidding process to
sell itself or effected a reorganization involvitige break-up of Smurfit-Stone. Nor do
they argue that the Board abandoned its long-témategy in response to a bidder’s offer
and sought an alternative transaction involving heak-up of the Company. Rather,
they allege thaRevlonshould apply to this case because the Merger Geration was
comprised of 50% cash and 50% stock at the timeainies entered into the Agreement,
which qualifies the Proposed Transaction as a “ghaof control” transactioff. A
guestion remains, however, as to when a mixed sswatk cash merger constitutes a
change of control transaction fRevlonpurposes.

On the one hand, pure stock-for-stock transactidmsnot necessarily trigger
Revlon If, for example, the resulting entity has a coling stockholder or stockholder

group such that the target’s stockholders are agdebto minority status in the combined

entity, Delaware Courts have found a change of robnwould occur for Revion

89 See, e.gln re Santa Fe Pac. Corp. S’holder Litid69 A.2d 59, 71 (Del. 1995)
(citing Paramount Commc'ns Inc. v. QVC Network Ji&37 A.2d 34, 42-43, 47-
48 (Del. 1994) (internal quotation marks and amasi omitted);Arnold v. Soc’y
for Sav. Bancorp, Inc650 A.2d 1270, 1289-90 (Del. 1994).

% POB 21-22. Alternatively, Plaintiffs seem to temd that even if the Proposed
Transaction is held not to involve a “change oftooli as defined in the relevant
precedents, this 50/50 cash/stock scenario in iticemstances of this case still
gualifies forRevlonreview under an as yet unarticulated fourévloncategory.
SeePRB 10 n.6.
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purposes: But, if ownership shifts from one large unaffitd group of public
stockholders to another, that alone does not amuuat change of contréf. In this
event, the target's stockholders’ voting power witit be diminished to minority status
and they are not foreclosed from an opportunitplitain a control premium in a future
change of control transaction involving the resigitentity®

On the other handRevlonwill govern a board’'s decision to sell a corparati
where stockholders will receive cash for their skdt Revlonapplies in the latter
instance because, among other things, there ismortow for the corporation’s present

stockholders, meaning that they will forever betstut from future profits generated by

o SeeParamount Commc’ns Inc. v. QVC Network Jr&@37 A.2d 34, 42-23 (Del.
1994) (“When a majority of a corporation’s votingases are acquired by a single
person or entity, or by a cohesive group actingetiogr, there is a significant
diminution in the voting power of those who therellpecome minority
stockholders.”).

92 See, e.gln re Santa Fe Pac. Corp669 A.2d at 71 (noting that a corporation does

not undergo a change in control where control efgbstmerger entity remains in
a “large, fluid, changeable and changing marketite(nal quotation marks
omitted); Arnold, 650 A.2d at 1289-90 (samd)ime Inc, 571 A.2d at 1150Krim

v. ProNet, Inc. 744 A.2d 523, 527 (Del. Ch. 1999) (noting tRavlon“does not
apply to stock-for-stock strategic mergers of pulpliraded companies, a majority
of the stock of which is dispersed in the market.”)

93 SeeArnold, 650 A.2d at 1290 (“[P]laintiff argues that thevas a ‘sale or change
in control’ of Bancorp because its former stockleotd are now relegated to
minority status in BoB, losing their opportunity émjoy a control premium. As a
continuing BoB stockholder, plaintiff’'s opportunitg receive a control premium
is not foreclosed. Thus, plaintiff’s claim that amced scrutiny is required under
the circumstances of this case lacks merit .). . .”

94 See, e.g.In re NYMEX S’holder Litig.2009 WL 3206051, at *5 (Del. Ch. Sept.
30, 2009);In re Topps Co. S’holders Litig926 A.2d 58, 64 (Del. Ch. 2007)\W
Servs., Inc. v. SWT Acq. Carp989 WL 20290, at *1184 (Del. Ch. Mar. 2, 1989).
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the resulting entity as well as the possibility abtaining a control premium in a
subsequent transactiéh.Heightened scrutiny is appropriate because ¢bamipresent
specter” that a board, which may have secured @intong interest of some kind in the
surviving entity, may favor its interests over taas the corporation’s stockholdéefs.

The Supreme Court has not yet clarified the prebisends of wherRevlon
applies in the situation where merger consideratiomsists of an equal or almost equal
split of cash and stock. Thus, to make such arhgtation, | evaluate the circumstances
of the Proposed Transaction based on its econampdidations and relevant judicial
precedent.

As to judicial precedent, | note that, on a fewassons, Delaware courts have
provided guidance on this issue. Imre Santa Fe Pacific Corpfor example, the
Supreme Court considered on a motion to dismisgltiatiffs’ claim thatRevlonshould
apply to a transaction in which Burlington wouldjatce up to 33% of Santa Fe common

shares through a tender offee( cash) and then acquire the balance of Santa &esh

9 See, e.g. Air Prods. & Chems., Inc. v. Airgas, Ind6 A.3d 48, 101-02 (Del. Ch.
2011); TW Servs., In¢.1989 WL 20290, at *1184 (noting that “for the peat
shareholders [of a company that will be sold foshdathere is no long run. For
them it does not matter that a buyer who will payrencash plans to subject the
corporation to a risky level of debt, or that a uwho offers less cash will be a
more generous employer for whom labor peace is riket/. The rationale for
recognizing . . . the appropriateness of sacrijachievable share value today in
the hope of greater long term value, is not preseinén all of the current
shareholders will be removed from the field by ¢batemplated transaction.”).

% See In re Lukens Inc. S’holders Litig57 A.2d 720, 732 n.6 (Del. Ch. 1999),
aff’d sub nom.Walker v. Lukens, Inc757 A.2d 1278 (Del. 2000).
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through a stock-for-stock exchanye.The Court declined to applgevionbecause it
found that the plaintiffs failed to allege that tBanta Fe board decided to pursue a
transaction, including the one finally settled upahich would result in a sale of control
of Santa Fe to Burlingtoff. Notably, the Court highlighted the plaintiffs’ilizre to
describe Burlington’s capital structure, which |éftwith little reason to doubt that
“control of Burlington and Santa Fe after the mergeuld [] remain ‘in a large, fluid,
changeable and changing market.”

Similarly, inIn re Lukens Ing.Vice Chancellor Lamb considered a transaction in
which Bethlehem Steel would acquire 100% of Lukermshmon stock for a value of $25
per common share. Under the terms of the merdachwvere subject to dispute on the
defendants’ motion to dismiss, “each Lukens shddemavould have the right to elect to
receive the consideration in cash, subject to airmax total cash payout equal to 62%
of the total consideration® As in Santa Fethe parties disputed whetheevionshould
control the transaction. While the Court did navé occasion to determine definitively
whether Revlon should apply—it assumed that it did—it offered esaguidance on
transactions involving both cash and stock mergersicderation, which informs this

Court’s opinion here. Vice Chancellor Lamb opirtledt, though the Supreme Court had

not yet established a bright line rule for whatgeetage of merger consideration could be

o7 In re Santa Fe Pac. Corp. S’holder Liti@69 A.2d 59, 64-65 (Del. 1995).
% 1d. at 71.

¥ d.

% " In re Lukens Ing.757 A.2d at 725.
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cash without triggerindRevion he would find that under the circumstances oflLihleens

caseRevlonwould apply*®® In pertinent part, he explained as follows:

| cannot understand how the Director Defendantsewneit
obliged, in the circumstances, to seek out the Ipese
reasonably available. The defendants argue thatuisecover
30% of the merger consideration was shares of Bedmh
common stock, a widely held company without any
controlling shareholderRevion and QVC do not apply. |
disagree. Whether 62% or 100% of the consideratias to
be in cash, the directors were obliged to takeamrasle steps
to ensure that the shareholders received the besé p
available because, in any event, for a substamggobrity of
the then-current shareholders, “there is no lomg’ru. . | do
not agree with the defendants th&anta Fe,in which
shareholders tendered 33% of their shares for eash
exchanged the remainder for common stock, conteols
situation in which over 60% of the consideratiorash. . . . |
take for granted . . . that a cash offer for 95% @bmpany’s
shares, for example, even if the other 5% will Rehanged
for the shares of a widely held corporation, winstitute a
change of corporate control. Until instructed otVise, |
believe that purchasing more than 60% achievess#me

resultl®?

Thus far, this Court has not been instructed otlsrvand, while the stock portion

of the Merger Consideration is larger than the iparin Lukens | am persuaded that

Vice Chancellor Lamb’s reasoning applies here, adl.w Defendants attempt to

distinguish Lukens on its facts, arguing that “they offer no supptot plaintiffs’

101

102

Id. at 732 n.25see alsdn re NYMEX S’holder Litig.2009 WL 3206051, at *5
(Del. Ch. Sept. 30, 2009) (similarly noting that tisupreme Court has not
established a bright line rule). In re NYMEX this Court considered a mixed
consideration transaction consisting of 56% stao#t 44% cash, but determined
that it did not need to address whetRavionapplied. See In re NYMEX2009
WL 3206051, at *5-6.

In re Lukens757 A.2d at 732 n.25.
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position.”™*

| disagree. While the factual scenarios areidentical, there are some
material similarities. Most important of thesdhat the Court in.ukenswas wary of the
fact that a majority of holders of Lukens commoocktpotentially could have elected to
cash out their positions entirely, subject to tB&o&otal cash consideration limit. In this
case, Defendants emphasize that no Smurfit-Stolektstlder involuntarily or
voluntarily can be cashed out completely and, afilensummation of the Proposed
Transaction, the stockholders will own slightlydethan half of Rock-Tenn. While the
facts of this case anldukensdiffer slightly in that regard, Defendants losghdiof the
fact that while no Smurfit-Stone stockholder wik lzashed out 100%, 100% of its
stockholders who elect to participate in the mengdlrsee approximately 50% of their
Smurfit-Stone investment cashed out. As such ke Chancellor Lamb’s concern that
potentially there was no “tomorrow” for a substahtnajority of Lukens stockholders,
the concern here is that there is no “tomorrow” fgproximately 50% of each
stockholder’s investment in Smurfit-Stone. Thatleatockholder may retain a portion of
her investment after the merger is insufficientdistinguish the reasoning dfukens
which concerns the need for the Court to scrutinineler Revlona transaction that

constitutes an end-game for all or a substantial glaa stockholder’s investment in a

Delaware corporation.

103 DAB 26-27.
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Defendants’ other arguments, while cogent, sityilare unavailing. Citing to
Arnold,*** they contend that because control of Rock-Tener afosing will remain in a
large, fluid, changing, and changeable market, 8t¥fstone stockholders will retain the
right to obtain a control premium in the future aad such, the Proposed Transaction is
not a change of control transaction un&avion As with their attempt to distinguish
Lukens Defendants assert that even though a signifigaritof the Merger Consideration
is in cash, there is a “tomorrow” for the Compansfeckholders because they will own
approximately 45% of Rock-Tenn after the mergerhey aver that “[h]olding that
Revlonapplies in this type of case would require direxto behave as if there is no long
run for their shareholders when in fact there &} 8o pretend that shareholders will not
participate in the future of the combined entityemtin fact they will.**> This statement,
however, is only half correct. While the Compansteckholders will see approximately
half of their equity transformed into Rock-Tenn gyguwsuch that they potentially can
benefit from Rock-Tenn’s future value, the otheff ttd their investment in Smurfit-
Stone will be cashed out. Even if Rock-Tenn hasordrolling stockholder and Smurfit-
Stone’s stockholders will not be relegated to aamig status in the postmerger entity,
half of their investment will be liquidated.

Citing to Santa Fe Defendants note that the Supreme Court did nggest that

cashing out 33% of shares out would transform S&eta transaction with Burlington

104 650 A.2d 1270.
105 DpAB 24.
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into a change of control transaction. As the Caooted, the plaintiffs in that case did not
allege that control of Burlington would not remam a large, fluid, changing, and
changeable market postmerger. The approximate®p B@ing cashed out of each
stockholder’s investment in Smurfit-Stone obviouisllys between the 33% cash out that
the Supreme Court held did not triggeevionin Santa Feand the 62% proportion of
cash consideration that Vice Chancellor Lamb detezth would triggerRevion in
Lukens Mathematically, this situation is closerltokens but only marginally®® Thus,
assuming the Court’s analysis lukenswas correct, as | do, this case is necessarily
approaching a limit in relation to the Supreme €euroldings inSanta FeandArnold,
which, again, involved a stock-for-stock transacticAs previously noted, however, my
conclusion thaRevlonapplies here is not free from doubt.

Finally, | note that factors identified by Plaiifdi and Defendants as having been

considered by Delaware courts in determining whetbeapplyRevlonreview in cases

1% |ndeed, Defendants also argue that, because ithaecollar on the stock portion

of the Merger Consideration, Smurfit-Stone stoclbod can benefit from the
market’'s anticipation of future synergies. Morepusecause Rock-Tenn’s share
price has risen since the announcement of the @&ctos, the Merger
Consideration now stands at 56% stock and 44% clasiny view, a more logical
and workable analysis here focuses on the relgtigportion of cash and stock as
of the time the parties entered into the Mergere&gnent, which was 50/50 cash
and stock. Accepting Defendants’ position woulduiee the Court to base its
determination as to whether to apptgvionon its best guess as to the price of
Rock-Tenn's stock as of the date the Transactiomsed. Leaving this
determination up to the vagaries of the stock ntaskaot a workable method and
potentially may lead to inequitable results. There | consider Plaintiffs’ claims
in light of the 50% cash and 50% stock Merger Caasition that was in effect as
of the date the parties entered into the Mergeefgent.
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like QVC and others are important to a robust analysishefissué®’ In QVC, for

example, the Supreme Court noted the importanceoatidering whether a target’s

stockholder’s voting rights would be relegated taanity status in the surviving entity of

a merger and whether such stockholders still cobliiin a control premium in future

transactions as part of the postmerger entity terdaning whether a “change of control”

had occurred® But, the fact that control of Rock-Tenn after semmation will remain

in a large pool of unaffiliated stockholders, whitgportant, neither addresses nor affords

protection to the portion of the stockholders’ istreent that will be converted to cash

and thereby be deprived of its long-run potential.

107

108

SeeDAB 27 (“Taken together, these cases suggest tlestipns that should
inform the applicability oRevlonin a mixed cash/stock deal: Does control of the
post-merger company remain in a large, fluid, ahdngeable market? Do the
target's shareholders retain a significant economierest in the combined
company? Must the directors, in considering thendaction, exercise their
business judgment, or is price the only questiay tmust consider to protect
shareholders’ interest? Do the shareholders rdtan future opportunity to
receive a control premium? [s there a “long ruo’ évery target shareholder in
the combined company?”); POB 23-24 & PRB 10 n.&ifg the Court to
consider the fact that Moore and Hunt will collédihange of control” bonuses in
the range of $19 million if the Proposed Transactaoses as supporting the
proposition that the Transaction represents a ahawfgcontrol). While the
Board’s treatment of certain of its management'angfe of control bonuses
arguably may be relevant to the Court’'s analysis, subjective beliefs of the
Board members are not sufficient alone to invdRevion See Paramount
Commc'ns, Inc. v. Time In&G71 A.2d 1140, 1151 (Del. 1989).

See Paramount Commc’ns Inc. v. QVC Network, 1687 A.2d 34, 42-43 (Del.
1994).
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Based on the foregoing, therefore, | conclude Biaintiffs are likely to succeed
on their argument that the approximately 50% casth 0% stock consideration here
triggersRevion

b. The Revlion standard

When the Board explored whether to enter into ttepésed Transaction, which,
as discussed above, warrants review uriglevion its fiduciary duties required it to
obtain the best value reasonably available to Stiidne stockholderS® There is no
single path that a board must follow in order toximéze stockholder valu€? but
directors must follow a path of reasonableness lwhieads toward that erd!
Importantly, a board’s actions are not reviewed rupioe basis of price alorf& In
reviewing a board’s actions undeevlon the Court must (1) make a determination as to
whether the information relied upon in the decismaking process was adequate and (2)

examine the reasonableness of the directors’ adecigiewed from the point in time

19 Revlon v. MacAndrews & Forbes Hldgs., In606 A.2d 173, 184 (Del. 1986);
QVC Network Ing.637 A.2d at 44.

110 Barkan v. Amsted Indus., In&67 A.2d 1279, 1286 (Del. 1989).
11 QVvC Network In¢.637 A.2d at 45.

12 In re J.P. Stevens & Co. S’holders Lifig42 A.2d 770, 781-82 n.6 (Del. Ch.
1988).

40



during which the directors actétf Director defendants have the burden of provimy th
were adequately informed and acted reasonably.

2. Application of Revlon: the sales process undertaken by the Smurfit-Stone
Board

Plaintiffs first attack the process the Special @Gottee undertook in the run up to
its recommendation to the Smurfit-Stone Board thapprove the Proposed Transaction.
Specifically, they assert that the Committee impssibly: (a) engaged in exclusive
negotiations with Rock-Tenn and approved a dealh wit based on inadequate
information and without previously canvassing tharket; (b) agreed to restrictive deal
protections that preclude a meaningful post-signmgyket check and discourage the
submission of competing bids; (c) permitted certaembers of senior Smurfit-Stone
management with conflicting interests to play digant roles in negotiating the deal
terms; (d) relied on a financial advisor with ngpexence in the containerboard industry
and with a financial incentive to close a transatgtand (e) accepted an inadequate price.
| address each of these contentions in turn.

a. Exclusivity, market check, and inadequate informaton

Plaintiffs contend that the Board breached its didry duties by engaging in a

flawed negotiating process, approving the Propdsadsaction without having adequate

113 QVC Network, In¢.637 A.2d at 45.

114 In re Dollar Thrifty S’holder Litig, 14 A.3d 573, 596 (Del. Ch. 2010) (citi@V/C
Network, Inc. 637 A.2d at 45).
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information, and agreeing to deal exclusively wRlbck-Tenn even though the latter
never requested such a restricttonh.

At the outset, | note that the process followedHgyBoard and Special Committee
was not perfect. But, reasonableness, and noegan, is whatRevlonrequires:*®
After carefully reviewing the record, | find thatet process undertaken by the Board
included sufficient indicia of reasonableness uridercircumstances to satigkevion

Preliminarily, | reject Plaintiffs’ contention th#te Board and Special Committee
were not adequately informed when they authorizbd signing of the Merger
Agreement. First, the record reflects that ningé oluthe current ten Smurfit-Stone
directors are outside, independent directors. &ledividuals are sophisticated business
executives with experience in a diverse range diistries-'’ Although a substantial
majority of these directors took their seats aBemnurfit-Stone exited bankruptcy, they
educated themselves about the Company and toakpibsitions as directors seriously.
Moreover, upon receiving notice of the first offesm Company A, the Board created a

Special Committee, which retained competent adsisorSpecifically, it obtained

115 |n addition, Plaintiffs argue that the Board sklohave conducted a presigning

market check, but deliberately chose not to do Boey also criticize the Board’s
decisions not to reach out to other potential bisi@ddter being contacted by Rock-
Tenn and not to conduct a postsigning market check.

116 Dollar Thrifty, 14 A.3d at 595.
7 SeeCompl. 11 10-109.

118 SeeFoster Dep. 12-13; Hake Dep. 11-20. This involgedsidering, among other

things, Smurfit-Stone’s operations and growth oppaties, as well as the
industry in which it operated.
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financial counsel from Lazard, an advisory compuatith significant experience working
with Smurfit-Stone in its bankruptcy, and legal osel from Wachtell Lipton, an
established leader in the M&A space. Finally, ®iféfis have not demonstrated any
reason to doubt the independence or disinterestsdot any of the outside Board
members.

In addition, despite Plaintiffs’ claims otherwigee Board made appropriate use
of the Special Committee, which was comprised bhade of the Company’s outside
directors. The Committee asserted its control dvemegotiations with Company A and
Rock-Tenn, as well as their own personnel, fromeaywearly stage. Indeed, Hake
appointed a special Subcommittee of three outsidectdrs to “drive the nitty-gritty
work that gets done in analyzing a proposal” orag-t-day basis because of his belief
that the process should be driven by the Compawyside directors:® While
management did play an active role in negotiatirtp Wompany A and Rock-Tenn, as
discussed further below, members of the Special rGittee made clear that potential
acquirors needed to direct their communications iandiries to the outside directors,
through their financial advisor, Lazaltf. Furthermore, the Committee did not accept
projections from management or other sources & vatue and held regular and robust

discussions regarding them, including pushing bagkinst management to make sure

119 Foster Dep. 70; McCormick Aff. Ex. 5.
120 gSee, e.g.Sorrels Aff. Ex. C at SSCC0000013.
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they were not “in any way . . . intentionally orintentionally . . . sharing with us
projections that were excessively conservativé.”

Further, Plaintiffs took issue with the relativalyort duration between the date the
Board received Rock-Tenn’s first concrete indicatad interest, approximately January
4, 2011, and the date the Board approved the Pedpdsansaction, January 23, 2011.
They contend this was an insufficient amount ofetito understand adequately the
Company'’s value, especially to other potentialtegge bidders. While the length of time
a company has to determine its options is importaissessing the reasonableness of a
board’s actions unddRevlon it is not dispositive, and a relatively quickesalprocess is
not aper seground for aRevlonviolation??

In Lyondell Chemical Co. v. Ryafor example, the Supreme Court indicated that
the Lyondell directors did not breach their dutgoyalty to the company even though
they took only approximately one week to considexsdl's offer to purchase the
company for $48 per shdfé—one-third the time the Smurfit-Stone Board spent
negotiating with Rock-Tenn. Importantly, the Supee Court explained that the
Lyondell board’s process, while short in duratis/gs thorough enough to satisfy the
directors’ fiduciary duty of loyalty unddRevlonbecause, among other things, they: (1)

met several times during the week they considerageBs offer; (2) permitted their

121 Foster Dep. 218-19; McCormick Aff. Ex. 40.
122 gee Lyondell Chem. Co. v. Ry8i0 A.2d 235, 243-44 (Del. 2009).

123 The Supreme Court found that the “time for actiorler Reviondid not begin

until July 10, 2007, when the directors began nagog the sale of Lyondell [to
Basell].” Id. at 242.
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CEO to try to negotiate better terms with Basdl); ¢valuated the price offered and the
likelihood of obtaining a better price; (4) werengeally aware of their company’s value
and understood its market; (5) solicited the asst# of competent financial and legal
advisors; and (6) attempted to persuade Basethpodve its offer even though evidence
indicated that $48 was a “blowout’ pricé?

Similarly, in this case, the Board met multiple ¢snin January to consider Rock-
Tenn’s offers, permitted Lazard and Hake to trypéossuade Rubright to improve Rock-
Tenn's $35 offer, evaluated that offer using Lazardaluations, Wachtell's legal
expertise, and its own knowledge of the Companyasket, and discussed the likelihood
that a better offer would materialiZ€. Moreover, the Board benefited not just from its
and Lazard’s work in January, but also from thearkvin previous months when the
Special Committee was evaluating Company A'’s offer.

| also note that, notwithstanding Plaintiffs’ pejbve characterizations, the
Special Committee’s conduct in January 2011 wasrage and apparently devoid of
undue influence by management. Indeed, the Comenitbt only pushed back against
management at times, it also pushed both of thepaaras that expressed interest in

acquiring it to increase the attractiveness ofrtlodfers on multiple occasions. For

124 See id at 242-44. Unlike théyondell case, where the surviving claims sought

only money damages, this case seeks preliminaupatiyve relief and, therefore, |
consider both Defendants’ duty of care as welhag duty of loyalty.

125 seeMcCormick Aff. Exs. 8-11. The Committee also diexl Lazard to take a
hard look at the Levin projections and determinestiiar they were reliableld.
Ex. 40.
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example, the Committee entertained two differemersffrom Company A and rejected
its more recent one, for $29 per share, as inadequde Committee also negotiated two
separate price increases from Rock-Tenn beforéatter offered its best and final price
of $35 per share, up from its original offer of $&D per shar&® Moreover, the
Committee extracted other concessions from RockiTas well, including reciprocity
with respect to certain deal protection devices andundertaking by Rock-Tenn to
assume certain of Smurfit-Stone’s liabilities. $@enegotiations demonstrate that the
Special Committee did not bow to management presand, instead, engaged in real,
arm’s-length dealings with potential acquirors,h@rmacteristic often considered by this
Court in evaluating the reasonableness of speciaintittees’ actions?” From these
facts, | conclude that Plaintiffs are not likelygocceed on their claim that the Board was
not adequately informed and failed to take suffiti@ctions toward the goal of
maximizing stockholder value in its sales process.

Similarly, and for many of the same reasons, hdofind that Plaintiffs are likely
to succeed on their claim that the Board breactsefiduciary duties by agreeing to deal
exclusively with Rock-Tenn and failing to conducpeesigning market check. In the
context of a merger transaction, directors havatg tb maximize stockholder value, but

they are under “no duty to employ a specific dewwaeh as the auction or market check

126 Rubright made clear to Lazard and Hake that Rieeha was not prepared to go

any higher than $35ld. Ex. 9.

127 See generallyn re Inergy L.P, 2010 WL 4273197, at *14-15 (Del. Ch. Oct. 29,
2010).
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mechanism 28

Even without such a market check, | find that thembers of the
Special Committee had enough information by thestthey received Rock-Tenn’s best
and final offer reasonably to determine that a togid was unlikely. First, Smurfit-
Stone was in Chapter 11 bankruptcy for approxingadeyear and a half, ending on June
30, 2010, and had received some interest from pateacquirors during this time, but
nothing concrete had materialized. The Board wagfied about these indications of
interest and considered the bankruptcy time petiothe a functional equivalent of a
market check?

Merely being notified about interested potentialdars during a bankruptcy that
occurred several months before a number of newctdire are thrust int&Revionmode,
on its own, is not an adequate substitute for ardd®aduty reasonably to consider
alternative transactions to maximize stockholdduera It may be relevant, however, to
the Court's analysis from an informational standpoi That is, the Smurfit-Stone
bankruptcy provides an important backdrop to théeotinformation the Board

considered when it decided not to conduct a presgmarket check in regard to

accepting Rock-Tenn'’s final offer. In particuldre Board also considered that no bidder

128 gee, e.gLyondell Chem. Co. v. Rya@70 A.2d 235, 243 n.28 (Del. 2009) (citing
Barkan v. Amsted Indus., Inc567 A.2d 1279, 1287 (Del. 1989), for the
proposition that “[d]irectors need not conduct arkeacheck if they have reliable
basis for belief that price offered is best possihj Herd v. Major Realty Corp.
1990 WL 212307, at *9 (Del. Ch. Dec. 21, 1990RéVloncertainly does not . . .
require that every change of control of a Delawargporation be preceded by a
heated bidding contest, some type of market cheaclany other prescribed
format.”).

129 gSeeFoster Dep. 178-79, 114-15; McCormick Aff. Ex. 6.
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approached it during the time it sought to divestain of its assets in response to the
Levin Report and that by mid-2010 the containerbomudustry was aware that the
Company likely was a takeover targét. Furthermore, the Board considered that
Company A had made a significantly lower offer @%per share and elected not to
return to the negotiating table with a higher bidew Smurfit-Stone invited it to do $&.
The Board also received Lazard’s independent ad¥iae Rock-Tenn’s offer was fair
and that a topping bid was not likely to materializy January 10, 201#* Finally, the
Committee considered it important that under tmengeof the Merger Agreement, it still
could consider Superior Proposals even after gredtinto such Agreement.

In the face of this information, the Board alsmsidered the dangers of delaying a
signing with Rock-Tenn. Conducting a prolongedsmeing market check would have
increased the risk of information leaks pertainiog possible imminent sale of Smurfit-

Stone, which may have disrupted the Company's peedoand businesg® and

130 SeeFoster Dep. 116-17.
131 McCormick Aff. Ex. 6.
132 |d. Ex. 8.

133 |d. Plaintiffs dismiss as inherently inconsistentféelants’ position that the

market knew Smurfit-Stone was a takeover targetdiuhe same time, the Board
was wary of information leaks about Rock-Tenn’sgpole interest in taking over
the Company through the Proposed Transaction. sdgdee. First, there is an
appreciable difference between market participakisgiwledge that a company
might be in play and a company’s public announcdntieat it definitely is for

sale. In the latter case, the company risks jebpag employee morale, long-
term business relationships with customers, andlitee More importantly,

Defendants credibly assert that at the time therd@as considering the Rock-
Tenn offer, it had not definitively decided to séHelf; rather, the Committee
considered remaining a stand-alone company a feshative. As such, it was

48



potentially could have further frustrated an alseddficult search for a permanent CEO,
in the event a sale never took place. In additiba,Board understood that there were
only a few potential strategic buyers who mightifterested in acquiring Smurfit-Stone
and, by virtue of being in the same industry, thpstential buyers likely would have
been aware of Smurfit-Stone’s receptiveness toaaséction>® Plaintiffs also make
much of the fact that Smurfit-Stone, and not RoekuT, requested exclusive dealings,
but this duty was reciprocal. With the knowledgattother bidders were not likely to
step forward and a reasonable belief that Rock-TFeofifier was superior to remaining as
a stand-alone company, the Board reasonably cayd sought to sign an exclusive deal
with Rock-Tenn to prevent the latter from considgrother acquisitions, subject to its
fiduciary duties.

Therefore, | find that the Board possessed a seffi@mount of reliable evidence
from which it reasonably could conclude that a readheck was not worth the risks of
jeopardizing the Rock-Tenn Transaction and thatimigaexclusively with Rock-Tenn

would maximize stockholder vald& As such, Plaintiffs are not likely to prevail on

not inconsistent for the Board to think the marke¢w the Company might be a
takeover target, but still seek to avoid leakingpimation about its talks with
Rock-Tenn.

134 SeeHake Dep. 25. Defendants contend that the fatribne of these potential
buyers stepped forward further supports the reddenass of the Board’s actions.
DAB 36.

135 Cf. Barkan v. Amsted Indus., In&67 A.2d 1279, 1287 (Del. 1989) (“When . . .
directors possess a body of reliable evidence witith to evaluate the fairness of
a transaction, they may approve that transactichowt conducting an active
survey of the market.”).
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their claim that the Board unreasonably failededq@rm a formal market check before or
after signing the Merger Agreement.

b. Deal protection devices

Plaintiffs next argue that, having decided to faregnducting a presigning market
check, the Board impermissibly agreed to severatipsive deal protection devices in
the Merger Agreement.

First, Plaintiffs attempt to paint the members o Special Committee as aloof
and lacking the interest or ability to understamel import of the deal provisions Wachtell
negotiated on their behalf. Based on a carefukvewf the deposition transcripts from
which Plaintiffs selectively quote to support tentention, | do not agree. Rather, the
record reflects that the Board actively and kedolgused on instructing Wachtell to
negotiate terms that would be reciprocal in fornd preserve Smurfit-Stone’s ability to
consider potential topping bids even after the Memygreement was signéd. In fact,
Wachtell secured more favorable terms for Smurtiar® than initially were offered to it
by Rock-Tenn. The matching rights period, for epanwas reduced from five days to
three days, the no-shop provision included by Rbekn in its first merger draft proposal
was made reciprocal, and the termination fee of@pmately 4% of equity value first

proposed by Rock-Tenn was reduced to approximatdis’*’

136 Foster Dep. 174-75, 198; Hake Dep. 43-45, 56r{gdhat the Board had multiple
discussions with Wachtell about “key provisions'tieé Merger Agreement).

137 CompareMcCormick Aff. Ex. 67with Merger Agreement § 8.2.
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Plaintiffs argue that, even if the Board understdloese provisions, the Board
should not have agreed to them without first cotidgca presigning market chet®. |
agree with Defendants that this does not accuratatg Delaware law. Indeed,Dollar
Thrifty, Vice Chancellor Strine found the Dollar Thriftgpdrd’s use of no-shop, matching
rights, and termination fee provisions to be reabts and not preclusive or coercive,
even though, as the plaintiffs argued, the comgaay agreed to deal exclusively with
Hertz without conducting a presigning market chE¢kThus, | evaluate each of these
provisions individually and cumulatively under thercumstances of this case to
determine whether the Board acted reasonably ieesgy to them and whether, in fact,
they are preclusive or coercive.

Specifically, the three items challenged by Pléstare the no shop provision, the
matching rights provision, and the termination fehjch are included in 88 6.4, 6.5, and

8.2 of the Merger Agreement, respectively. Accogdito Plaintiffs, the no shop

138 pOB 28. They assert that the Board could havegtme a presigning market

check, but only if it conducted a postsigning maikeeck in the absence of these
deal protection devicesld. In addition, they argue that the Board shouldeha
negotiated for a go-shop provision rather than e@goea no shop provision. But,
as discussed in the text, | find no fault with Beard’s decision to agree to a no
shop and, moreoveRevlondoes not compel a board to use a specific tyeaf
protection device; it may use such devices as kg does not deter from the
directors’ ultimate duty to maximize stockholderlue&a See In re NYMEX
S’holder Litig, 2009 WL 3206051, at *8 (Del. Ch. Sept. 30, 2009he mere
failure to secure deal protections that, in hindigvould have been beneficial to
shareholders does not amount to a breach of tlyeofictre.”).

139 See In re Dollar Thrifty S’holder Litigl4 A.3d 573, 612-13, 615 (Del. Ch. Sept.
8, 2010) (“Of course, in signing up a deal withaupre-signing market check, it
was incumbent upon the Board to consider whetheadtextracted all the value it
could and whether it was ensuring the viabilityagiost-signing market check.”).
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provision, which, as mentioneslipra contains a fiduciary out that allows the Board to
consider Superior Proposals, substantially redtleetikelinood of a topping bid because
it prohibits the Board from actively soliciting m@ottial interested parties. Similarly, they
object to the matching rights provision, under whiRock-Tenn has three days to match
a Superior Proposal, on the ground that it sigaiftty reduces the likelihood of such a
proposal. Moreover, Plaintiffs allege that the @1&illion termination fee, which
constitutes approximately 3.4% of equity value eixessively large and significantly
diminishes the probability of a competing buyer mgka bid. Lastly, Plaintiffs contend
that these three protective devices have an urmabbopreclusive effect in combination,
even if none is preclusive in isolation.

Under the relevant case law, Plaintiffs are natlifko succeed in showing that the
no shop and matching rights provisions are unreddeneither separately or in
combinatiom*° Potential suitors often have a legitimate conc¢kat they are being used
as a stalking horse merely to draw others intodalibg war. This presumably was a
concern for Rock-Tenn based on the facts that whéeCompany had been the subject
of persistent takeover rumors for several montlaemgial buyers had shown little
interest, with the exception of Company A, and tRatck-Tenn’s initial draft of the

Merger Agreement contained both a no shop and nmgicights provisions. Therefore,

190 gSee, e.gid. at 618 (refusing to enjoin a strategic deal wiétching rights and no

shop provisions because these deal provisions weither preclusive nor
unreasonable)in re Toys ‘R’ Us, Inc., S’holder Litig877 A.2d 975 (Del. Ch.
2005) (declining to enjoin merger with no shop ps@n and temporally limited
match rights).
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in an effort to entice an acquirer to make a stroffgr, it is reasonable for a seller to
provide a buyer some level of assurance that Hebeifiven an adequate opportunity to
buy the seller, even if a higher bid later emergésPlaintiffs have not shown that any
alternative bidder was precluded by the challergedisions from successfully making
a higher offer. Accordingly, they have not demaoatstd a likelihood of success on the
merits of their objections to either the no shopnaitching rights provisions.

Plaintiffs also take issue with the $120 milliomnénation fee, which represents
approximately 3.4% of equity value. While the teration fee is toward the upper
boundary of permissibility under Delaware law, tHBourt has approved several
termination fees of similar siZ&? The relative size of the Termination Fee is ferth
mitigated by the fact that it is reciprocal, applyito Rock-Tenn as well as Smurfit-
Stone. Accordingly, because the Termination Feegeserally within the range

previously found to be reasonable and appears\ue resulted from good faith, arm’s-

141 Indeed, no shop and matching rights clauses etkihd included in the Merger

Agreement are customary in public company mergmtayt. See, e.g.In re Toys
‘R’ Us, Inc. S’holder Litig. 877 A.2d 975, 1017 (Del. Ch. 2005) (“neither a
termination fee nor a matching right per seinvalid. Each is a common
contractual feature . . . ."McMillan v. Intercargo Corp.768 A.2d 492, 505 (Del.
Ch. 2000) (noting that deal protections, includim@gshop provisions, are “rather
ordinary”); see alsdNACCO Indus., Inc. v. Applica InQ97 A.2d 1, 14 (Del. Ch.
2009) (referring to no shop provision as using toogry language”)McCormick
Aff. Ex. 94, ABA 2010 Strategic Buyer/Public Target Mergers & Acdioss
Deal Points StudyDec. 29, 2010), 63.

192 See, e.gln re Answers Corp. S’holders Litj2011 WL 1366780, at *4 (Del. Ch.
Apr. 11, 2011) (upholding termination fee of 4.4%)llar Thrifty, 14 A. 3d at
614 (upholding 3.5% termination fedficMillan v. Intercargo Corp. 768 A.2d
492, 505-06 (Del. Ch. 2000) (upholding 3.5% terrtiorafee).
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length negotiations, | conclude that Plaintiffs ac likely to succeed on their claim that
the Board acted unreasonably in assenting to ¢eat f

In addition, | am not persuaded that, collectivehe Merger Agreement’s three
primary deal protections unreasonably inhibit arothidder from making a Superior
Proposal. The challenged provisions are relatigtédyndard in form and have not been
shown to be preclusive or coercive, whether theg aonsidered separately or
collectively. Accordingly, on the record presentedm not convinced that Plaintiffs are
likely to be able to prove that the Board actedeasonably in agreeing to give Rock-
Tenn these deal protections.

C. Conflicted management

Plaintiffs next take issue with the Special Comedts decision to permit Moore
and Hunt, whom they characterize as having signiticonflicts, to take active roles in
negotiating the Proposed Transaction with Rock-TeRaintiffs cite as the source of
these conflicts the employment agreements of MaackHunt, which provide for change
of control bonuses that, according to Plaintiffsantivized them to negotiate a change of
control without regard to whether it was in the Qamy’s stockholders’ best interests.

First, Plaintiffs complain that the Committee petted Moore and Hunt to lead
the due diligence process with “no involvement’nfrahe outside directors on the
Committee. The record does not support this argiméhe Committee fully understood
that Moore and Hunt potentially faced conflictsioferest as a result of the change of
control bonuses they stood to receive if a tramsiaatlosed. The evidence also shows

that the Committee believed that Moore and Huntmasmagement with an intimate
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knowledge of the Company, were better equippedfaxtvely and efficiently negotiate
due diligence matters with Rock-Tenn than the nqieyee directors on the
Committee™*®

In addition, the evidence demonstrated that, becananagement’s potential
conflicts were recognized, the Board took firm cohtof the sales process and
management’s involvement in'it! Moore, for example, was permitted to participate
Special Committee meetings, but only when he wadatipg the Committee on
negotiations and other business matters. He alwagsexcused and not present during
important Committee votes. Furthermore, Moore Blutht were involved primarily in
the due diligence aspect of the sales process alydt@ok actions in this capacity that
were expressly authorized by the Commitf8e. Despite authorizing management to

negotiate due diligence issues with Rock-Tenn, Goenmittee, through Wachtell and

143 SeeHake Dep. 78-79.

144 McCormick Aff. Ex. 29 (in response to news of atemtial Company A offer,

Foster stated “[i]f the offer is forthcoming, | 3&pt the independent directors
quickly take control and drive this without [Moore} [Klinger].”), 86 (Hake
emailing Lewis, stating “I had dinner with [MoorkK|inger, and Hunt] and they
were upset about the perceived lack of trust andgbexcluded from our board
discussions but understand we need to run a cleace$s.”); Moore Dep. 38
(“Hake instructed us to go through a special cor@aitand that he wanted to be
involved in all discussions with [Company A].”).

145 See, e.g.McCormick Aff. Exs. 54, 50; Rubright Dep. 112-1doting that he
contacted Moore only to discuss due diligence ssuel that Rock-Tenn “tried to
follow the protocols that Smurfit established fa&r exactly, and those protocols
were . . . []don’t call me, call Lazard.[']. Lamhsaid you can call Mr. Hake . . .
they were in control of the process and we followedt Sorrels Aff. Ex. C (the
Board controlled who Rock-Tenn and its advisorsld@¢dalk to at Company and
when).
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Lazard, and not management, served as the primagptiator for many of the
substantive terms of the Merger Agreem@éfit.

Next, Plaintiffs find support for their argumentaththe process was tainted by
management’s conflicted involvement in the Commitedelegation to Moore of the
task of negotiating the drop-dead date for the Meygreement. They stress that the
drop-dead date of September 30, 2011 convenieathcitles with the last date on which
a change of control transaction may be completettigger Moore’s bonus. While the
Committee did delegate this task to Moore, the net@adicates that the parties’ chosen
date was dependent at least as much on Rock-Tabilisy to secure financing as on
Moore’s self-interest. Indeed, Rock-Tenn origipadbught a six month drop-dead date
and Smurfit-Stone sought a longer one to increhsdikelihood of consummating the
transaction?” It was only when Rock-Tenn's bank agreed to ektés financing
commitment from six to eight months that the parégreed upon September 30, 2011,
approximately eight months after signing, as thepetead dat&*®

Plaintiffs merely have established that certairfsofurfit-Stone’s management had

potential pecuniary conflicts of interest basedtba existence of change of control

146 SeeRubright Dep. 112-14; Foster Dep. 173 (noting@menmittee’s firm position

as to a termination fee), 175 (“Q. Were . . . negimins [about deal protection
devices] handled primarily by outside counsel?ThAe direct conversations were,
but [the Special Committee] had a number of brgdirand [outside counsel]
certainly [was] guided by not only their market kiedge but by the direction of
the special committee.”).

147 Rubright Dep. 115-16.
148 |d. at 116.
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bonuses in their employment contracts. The evideshows that the Defendant outside
directors had nothing to do with negotiating or rapng those contracts. Moreover,
Plaintiffs have not shown that the executives imgdlacted on their conflicts at Smurfit-
Stone’s expense or that the Committee impermissiidymitted them to do so.
Therefore, Plaintiffs are not likely to succeed proving that Moore and Hunt, and
Klinger to the extent Plaintiffs include him in theonflict argument, materially tainted
the sales process here through their involvemeitt in

d. Inexperienced and conflicted financial advisor

Plaintiffs further contend that the Special Comedats hiring and reliance on
Lazard, whom they characterize as conflicted arekperienced, contributes to the
unreasonableness of their conduct uridevion They argue first that the Lazard team
had no experience in the paper and fiberboard tndus with mergers involving
corporations that recently had exited bankruptcin addition, Plaintiffs fault the
Committee for hiring Lazard without conducting anmf@al interview process or receiving
a presentation by Lazard.

These criticisms are largely unfounded. WhileBloard did not conduct a formal
interview process or “beauty pageant,” it did meghilly consider the issue of hiring an
experienced and independent financial advisor.Several members of the Special
Committee recommended hiring Lazard based on Hatief that it had significant M&A

experience and that it would be independent becasa no previous relationship with

199 See, e.g.Foster Dep. 71; Hake Dep. 112.
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the Special Committee or the other Transactionigpaints. Equally important, the

Committee determined Lazard would be a good fitabhee of its prior experience
advising Smurfit-Stone when it was in bankruptcyl as resultant ability to get up to

speed quickly™® | also note that the Board did not take lightig terms under which it

retained Lazard. In that regard, the Board netptido reduce Lazard's fees and
obtained a lower contingent success'fée.

This segues into Plaintiffs’ next criticism; namethat the Special Committee
agreed to retain Lazard under terms that includsignificant success fee, whereby
Lazard will receive substantially greater compeosait a deal closes — even a bad deal —
than if there is no transactioi? Plaintiffs argue this type of fee structure ipapriate
in an auction setting where a corporation is chapsimong competing bids, but not
where the corporation is choosing between sellisgjfior remaining as a going concern.
In the latter situation, Plaintiffs assert thatugaess fee creates a “strong incentive” for
Lazard to push through any deal, even a bad deagltect its fee. This, they contend, is
what happened here because Lazard made no gobdafsinpt to push Rock-Tenn to

increase its offer above $35 per share.

130 Foster Dep. 71; Hake Dep. 111.
151 Hake Dep. 112-13.

152 pOB 33 (noting that under the terms of its retentLazard will receive up to $3

million if no transaction is consummated, but wéteive 50 basis points relative
to the total consideration paid in a consummatedstction, which would be
approximately $23 million for the Proposed Transsmt
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Contingent fees for financial advisors in a merg@ntext are somewhat “routine”
and previously have been upheld by Delaware cdtiitsloreover, a sales process is not
unreasonable und&evlonmerely because a special committee is advisedfmanacial
advisor who might receive a large contingent suxées, even if the special committee is
considering only one bidder. Rather, the Court @ke that fact into consideration in
determining whether the financial advisor failedatesist the committee in maximizing
stockholder value or whether the committee failedversee adequately the advisor’s
work. Here, Plaintiffs failed to allege any colbl@wrongdoing or conflict on the part of
Lazard™* Even if they did, | find that the Special Committmaintained continuous and
diligent oversight of Lazard’s work and negotiasowith Rock-Tenn and Wells Fargo.

Indeed, even if Lazard merely “went through theior” in half-heartedly asking Rock-

133 See In re Atheros Commc'ns, In2011 WL 864928, at *8 (Del. Ch. Mar. 4, 2011)
(“Contingent fees are undoubtedly routine; theyumsdthe target’'s expense if a
deal is not completed; perhaps, they properly incee the financial advisor to
focus on the appropriate outcomeThpys "R" Us877 A.2d at 1005.

154 Plaintiffs’ chief support for its contention thiahzard failed meaningfully to push

Rock-Tenn to exceed its $35 dollar offer is an mptete email chain between
Lewis and certain of Rock-Tenn’s financial advisatsNells Fargo. Pls.” Ex. 50.
The chain has the subject line “We will take yowaiir word that this is best and
final . . .” and includes an email from Lewis tedii his counterpart at Wells Fargo
that he will inform the Board that $35 is Rock-T&nibest and final price.
Because Plaintiffs did not file the entire emaibich | am unable to determine
what was said before Lewis’s email, the contenttheforiginal email, or the full
context of these communications. Therefore, Irdffonly limited weight to this
exhibit.
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Tenn to improve its $35 bid as Plaintiffs claime tBpecial Committee independently
verified that Rock-Tenn would not budge past $35.

Therefore, | find that the Special Committee’s dem to retain and rely upon the
work of Lazard was not unreasonable and, as ssatiutilikely to provide a predicate for
a violation of its members’ fiduciary duties.

e. Inadequate price

Plaintiffs further contend that the price of th@Brsed Transaction is inadequate.
They have provided little basis, however, on whilguestion the reasonableness of the
Board’s decision that $35 per share was a faireprido support their claim, Plaintiffs
rely primarily on the projections made by Rock-Tennvestment banker, Wells Fargo,
and those made by the Levin Group in July 2010e 3$murfit-Stone Board, however,
was not privy to the calculations made by WellsgéarMoreover, reasonable minds may
differ as to the value of the Company becausemalily, valuation is an art and not a
science. As to the presentation by the Levin Grdugzard and the Special Committee
specifically focused on that information. Moregviéiwas acknowledged that the Levin
Group’s analysis was based on several speculatsgeingptions, some of which,
including the Company’'s ability to divest certaifi s Mills, later proved to be

unrealistict®®

155 gSee, e.gMcCormick Aff. Ex. 9; Hake Dep. 193-94, 197-2@$cribing multiple
discussions with Rubright and how Rubright maderckhat Rock-Tenn’s best
and final offer was $35 per share and that it wéalee it or leave it” offer).

1% The Board concluded that certain of the recomradrdivestitures could not be

made, a suggested plant closure would be costlg, tarre was significant
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On the whole, | am not convinced Plaintiffs areehkto be able to prove that the
Board’s decision was unreasonable. With that indnthere were a number of pieces of
information to support $35 per share as a fairepricFirst, Defendants already had
rejected as inadequate an offer from Company A2¥ @er share. This provided the
Board with at least some sense of how much at teessignificant financial buyer might
be willing to pay and also indicates that the Boamrs willing to reject an offer that it
deemed to undervalue the Company. Second, Defendansidered certain standalone
options as presented by Levin, some of which thejgcted explicitly as infeasible.
Third, Lazard provided extensive analysis that datkd that $35 per share was a
reasonable price based on measures such as ardestaash flow, EBITDA multiples
for comparable companies, and comparable transactioWhile Plaintiffs question
whether Lazard offered unbiased advice, | havectegethat argument for the reasons
discussedsupra Furthermore, a quasi-appraisal process is imgg@te at this point
because even a dispute over valuation betweenihaadial advisors will not support a
preliminary injunction->’

3. Aiding and abetting
Rock-Tenn contends that the Court should deny #ffginclaim for injunctive

relief as to it for two independent reasons: (Bimiffs waived their aiding and abetting

execution risk associated with certain other aspettthe Levin analysesSee
Levin Dep. 45; Foster Dep. 39, 55, 86.

157 In re Lear Corp. S’holder Litig.926 A.2d 94, 118-19 (Del. Ch. 2007) (positing
that a motion for a preliminary injunction regamgli@n upcoming merger, as
opposed to an appraisal proceeding, was an inapateguncture to issue an
opinion as to the value of the seller’'s shares).
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arguments against Rock-Tenn by failing to includent in their opening brief; and (2)
Plaintiffs failed to establish a likelihood of sess on the merits of their claim against
Smurfit-Stone.

To prevail on their aiding and abetting claim agaiRock-Tenn, Plaintiffs must
establish a likelihood of success in proving: (1§ existence of a fiduciary relationship,
(2) a breach of the fiduciary’s duty, and (3) a Wi participation in that breach by
Rock-Tenn™>® Because Plaintiffs have failed to demonstratikelihood of success on
their claims against Smurfit-Stone, their claim foeliminary injunctive relief against
Rock-Tenn for aiding and abetting Smurfit-Stondleged wrongdoing must fatP®

4. The alleged disclosure violations

In their briefs, Plaintiffs alleged that the disslwes contained in the Preliminary
Proxy Statement contained material deficienciesy tBe time of the preliminary
injunction Argument, however, Defendants had predicdsupplemented disclosurgS,
which Plaintiffs acknowledged at the Argument mdadteeir disclosure complaint§!

C. Irreparable Harm

As | discussed itn re Cogent, Inc. Shareholder Litigatiothne Court of Chancery

is reluctant to interfere with a stockholder’s tigto make fully informed and

1% In re Santa Fe Pac. Corp. S'holder Liti§69 A.2d 59, 72 (Del. 1995).
139 As such, | need not reach Rock-Tenn’s waiver ment.
19 D.. 117 Ex. A.

161 SeeTr. of Prelim. Inj. Arg. held May 18, 2011 at 32-3
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disinterested business decisions relating to haresi® Therefore, before this Court
will enjoin a merger transaction, a plaintiff makmonstrate harm for which she has no
adequate remedy at law and that a refusal to iasumjunction would be a denial of
justice’®® The alleged harm must be imminent and genuineppssed to speculativé’
For example, this Court has found a threat of araple harm “in cases where an after-
the-fact attempt to quantify damages would ‘invdlakcostly exercise[ | in imprecision’
and would not provide full, fair, and complete eélior the alleged wrong-*°

Plaintiffs initially alleged two sources of poteadtirreparable harm here: (1) harm
from forcing Smurfit-Stone stockholders to votetba Proposed Transaction without the
benefit of adequate disclosures; and (2) harm tiagulrom the Board’'s breaches of its
Revlon duties, which will have the effect of forever peeting the Company’s
stockholders from obtaining the maximum value fbeit shares®® Because the
disclosures arguments are now moot, | focus om#fis claims of irreparable harm

based on the Board’s allegBévlonviolations.

162 gSee In re Cogent, Inc. S’holder LitigZz A.3d 487, 513 (Del. Ch. Oct. 5, 2010)
(“This Court has long afforded significant respextthe stockholder's ability to
make business decisions through an informed, digated vote, whether through
the corporate franchise or a tender of her shgres.”

183 See, e.gCNL-AB LLC v. E. Prop. Fund | SPE (MS Ref) 2011 WL 353529, at *11
(Del. Ch. Jan. 28, 2011xquila, Inc. v. Quanta Servs., In805 A.2d 196, 208 (Del. Ch.
2002).

184 Inre Inergy L.P, 2010 WL 4273197, at *17 (Del. Ch. Oct. 29, 2010).

185 N.K.S. Distribs., Inc. v. Tigan2010 WL 2367669, at *5 (Del. Ch. June 7, 2010).

166 pPOB 46-48.
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In some situations where a target’s board breaithesities undeRevlon a Court
may find that stockholders face a threat of irraplg harm because the board failed to
adequately shop the company in advance of recomimgiidat stockholders approve a
proposed mergéf’ This is because after-the-fact inquiries into tvméght have been
had directors adequately tested the market nedgssarolve speculation and
guesswork® Yet, in the absence of concomitant disclosurdatins and where a
plaintiff's complaint boils down to an allegatiori madequate price, Delaware courts
have found that money damages can provide a serficemedy for a boardBevlon
violations™®®

In the circumstances of this case, Plaintiffs haotestablished that permitting the
Proposed Transaction to close would cause irrepardtarm to Smurfit-Stone
stockholders. First, as discussed above, the Baasbnably concluded that a topping
bid was not likely to materialize imminently. Coany A, for example, had submitted a
much lower bid than Rock-Tenn and, despite beinged back to the table in December
2010, declined to improve that bid. In additiomcR-Tenn told Smurfit-Stone that it had

given its best and final offer and indicated thatould suspend negotiations if Smurfit-

167 See Netsmarf24 A.2d at 207Cogent 7 A.3d at 515.
188 See Netsmard24 A.2d at 207.

189 See Norberg v. Young’s Mkt. CA989 WL 155462, at *3 (Del. Ch. Dec. 19,
1989) (“Norberg’s fundamental contention is that $8,500 purchase price does
not represent fair and full value for Young's commatmck. Assuming that he is
correct in that assertion, and assuming that hepcave he is entitled to recover
on his Revlonclaim, there is no reason why Norberg cannot belenahole
through an award of damages following trial.”).
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Stone did not agree to a deal by approximately aan24, 2011/° Finally, the Special
Committee was cognizant that there was a generaremgss in the market that the
Company was a potential takeover target, it hadtedeno structural barriers to such a
takeover, including a poison pill, and no compamyl lmade a definitive offer to buy
Smurfit-Stone during its Bankruptcy, the period whewas looking to divest certain of
its mill assets, or any other time. Moreover, @@mpany arguably has been “for sale”
for approximately four months since the Board appdbthe Transaction and no other
bidder has indicated an interest in making an oféereven indicated that the Merger
Agreement’s lock up provisions chilled it from dgiso. In addition, Plaintiffs concede
that all relevant facts relating to the Transactom before the stockholders including, for
example, the rise in the price of Rock-Tenn’s steakce the announcement of the
Transaction, which Plaintiffs assert reflects tharket's view that Rock-Tenn is
purchasing Smurfit-Stone “on the cheap.” On tifasés, | find Plaintiffs’ argument that
an injunction might provide a possibility of pertinigg a topping bid to materialize is
speculative and insufficient to constitute irrefiesharn"*

In addition, Smurfit-Stone stockholders who agreéhwPlaintiffs that $35 per
share undervalues their investment in the Compasynat without recourse in the

absence of injunctive relief. Plaintiffs still magek money damages as compensation

170 McCormick Aff. Ex. 9.
171 See Norbergl1989 WL 155462, at *4-5 (Del. Ch. Dec. 19, 1989).
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for the Board's alleged breaches of their fiduciduies'’? They also may vote against
the merger and seek appraisal for their sharesr@bel. C.§ 262" Thus, | hold that
Plaintiffs have failed to carry their burden to shthey face a threat of irreparable harm
in the absence of preliminary injunctive relief.

D. Balance of the Equities

In addition to determining whether Plaintiffs hasatisfied the requirements of
showing a reasonable likelihood of success on tketsnand that they will suffer an
imminent threat of irreparable harm if relief istrgranted, | must consider whether
Plaintiffs have demonstrated that “this Court’'duiee to grant the injunction will cause
[them] greater harm than granting the injunctioli eause [the other partyl* Thus, |
also must engage in a pragmatic balancing of thiies, for which | have considerable

discretion, based on the facts of this c43e.

172 Admittedly, however, this remedy may be of limditealue based on the presence

of an 8Del. C.§ 102(b)(7) exculpation clause in Smurfit-Stoneéstificate of
incorporation.

173 8Del. C.§ 262;see alsdn re Lear Corp. S'holder Litig.926 A.2d 94, 123 (Del.
Ch. 2007);La. Mun. Police Empls. Ret. Sys. v. Crawfd®d8 A.2d 1172, 1192
(Del. Ch. 2007) (“So long as appraisal rights remerailable, shareholders fully
apprised of all relevant facts may protect themeelvThey need no further
intervention from this Court.”).

174 See, e.g.N.K.S. Distribs., Inc. v. Tigan2010 WL 2367669, at *5 (Del. Ch. June
7, 2010);Braunschweiger v. Am. Home Shield Cprj®89 WL 128571, at *5
(Del. Ch. Oct. 26, 1989).

1> CNL-AB LLC v. E. Prop. Fund | SPE (MS Ref) |12D11 WL 353529, at *13
(Del. Ch. Jan. 28, 2011l re Holly Farms Corp. S’holders Litigs64 A.2d 342,
348 (Del. Ch. 1989).
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Here, Plaintiffs have not made a strong showing bkelihood of success on the
merits or the existence of irreparable harm if mgjive relief is denied. Moreover, the
Proposed Transaction offers a significant premion$murfit-Stone’s stockholders and,
as of the date of this Opinion, no topping bid h&en made or even suggest&d.
Enjoining the Transaction now would create a ris&ttSmurfit-Stone’s stockholders
could lose out on this Transaction altogether.

Furthermore, Plaintiffs have offered no proof t@ort their aiding and abetting
claim against Rock-Tenn. Hence, there is nothmthe record to show that Rock-Tenn
acted improperly. To the contrary, the record gs¢g that it engaged in arm’s-length
bargaining permissibly to advance its self-intesesEhus, to the extent the equities favor

either side, | find that they favor Defendants.

II. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, | find that Plaintiffs héaied to carry their burden to
prove they are likely to succeed on the merits hirt claims, will suffer imminent
irreparable harm if injunctive relief is not gradteand are favored by the equities.
Therefore, | deny Plaintiffs’ motion for a prelinairy injunction.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

176 See Netsmar924 A.2d at 208 (“[W]hen this court is asked joén a transaction
and another higher-priced alternative is not imratdly available, it has been
appropriately modest about playing games with ople@ple’s money.”).
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